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Introduction to  HKAS 34, 'Interim financial reporting' 

Objective and scope 

Although there is no requirement under HKFRS for entities to publish interim financial reports, a number of territories around the 
world either require or recommend their publication, often stipulating that they should be prepared in accordance with HKFRS. 
HKAS 34, 'Interim financial reporting', applies where an entity publishes an interim financial report in accordance with HKFRS. It 
encourages publicly traded entities to prepare interim reports at least as of the end of the first half of their financial year [HKAS 34 
para 1(a)]. 

The objective of HKAS 34 is to set out the minimum content that an interim financial report should contain and the principles that 
should be used in recognising and measuring the transactions and balances included in that report. 

HKAS 34 recommends that interim financial reports are published within 60 days of the period end, although local legislative 
requirements may mandate a different timescale1 [HKAS 34 para 1(b)]. 

Content 

Entities may either prepare full HKFRS financial statements (as published in their annual report), or condensed financial 
statements under HKAS 34. Condensed reporting is the more common approach. 

HKAS 34 requires the interim financial report to contain, as a minimum: 

● A statement of financial position (balance sheet) as at the end of the current interim period and as at the end of the
immediately preceding financial year. 

● A statement or statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the current interim period and cumulatively
for the current financial year to date (for example, the second quarter and the half year to date), with comparative
statements for the comparable interim periods of the immediately preceding financial year. 

● A statement of changes in equity for the year to date, with a comparative statement for the comparable year-to-date period
of the immediately preceding financial year.

● A statement of cash flows for the year to date, with a comparative statement for the comparable year-to-date period of the
immediately preceding financial year. 

● Selected explanatory notes.

● Basic and diluted earnings per share for the interim period reported, presented in the statement that presents the
components of profit or loss for an interim period (only if the entity is required to present earnings per share in accordance
with  HKAS 33). 

[ HKAS 34 paras 8, 11] 

The condensed primary statements should contain, as a minimum, the main headings and sub-totals that were included in the 
entity's most recent full financial statements. Additional line items or notes should be included if their omission would make the 
condensed interim financial report misleading [HKAS 34 para 10].

PwC observation: 

HKAS 34 does not require the presentation in the condensed primary statements of all the line items that are required by HKAS 
1, ‘Presentation of financial statements’, to be included in the primary statements in the annual financial statements; however, it 
is common, and considered best practice, to include them. In some countries, the extent to which line items may be aggregated in 
condensed interim financial statements may also be governed by local regulators or market requirements.  

HKAS 34 requires additional line items or notes to be included if their omission would make the condensed interim financial 
report misleading [HKAS 34 para 10]. An entity may incur costs on an annual basis that are not significant enough in the context 
of the annual financial statements to require separate disclosure. However, such costs might be incurred unevenly during the 
year and require separate presentation in the condensed statement of profit or loss, thus leading to a difference in presentation 
between the interim financial report and the annual comparative financial statements.  

HKAS 34 requires comparative information to be given for all primary statements. A comparative statement of financial position 
should be given for the last full financial year. HKAS 34 does not require statement of financial position comparatives for the prior 
interim period. Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income comparatives should be given for the comparative 

1  According to MB Listing Rule 13.49(6) and 13.48(1), a MB issuer must publish its interim results announcement not later than two months after the end of that period 

of six months and must send out either (i) its interim report, or (ii) its summary interim report not later than three months after the end of that period of six months. 

According to GEM Listing Rule 18.53 and 18.78, a GEM issuer must publish its interim results announcement and send out either (i) its interim report, or (ii) its 
summary interim report not later than 45 days after the end of such period. 
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interim period, but comparatives for the last full financial year are not required. HKAS 34 requires in addition a cumulative current 
year-to-date statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income with comparatives. This will be relevant to those choosing 
to report under HKAS 34 at quarterly dates. For example, at the third quarter, results would be given for the three months to the 
end of the third quarter, and also for the nine months to the end of the third quarter. Equity movement and cash flow comparative 
information is required for the equivalent year-to-date period in the previous year [ HKAS 34 para 20]. 

Statements required for entities that report half-yearly at the end of the second quarter 

Statement Current Comparative 

Statement of financial position at 30 June 20X7 31 December 20X6 

Statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income (and, where applicable, 
separate statement of profit or loss):  
– six months ended

30 June 20X7 30 June 20X6 

Statement of changes in equity: 
– six months ended

30 June 20X7 30 June 20X6 

Statement of cash flows: 
– six months ended

30 June 20X7 30 June 20X6 

Statements required for entities that report quarterly at the end of the third quarter 

Statement Current Comparative 

Statement of financial position at 30 September 20X7 31 December 20X6 

Statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income (and, where applicable, 
separate statement of profit or loss) 
- nine months ended

- three months ended

30 September 20X7 

30 September 20X7 

30 September 20X6 

30 September 20X6 

Statement of changes in equity 
- nine months ended 30 September 20X7 30 September 20X6 

Statement of cash flows 
- nine months ended 30 September 20X7 30 September 20X6 

If an interim financial report is presented for a different interim reporting period, the heading of the financial information should 
specify the interim reporting period covered (for example, 'For the quarter ended 30 September 2017' or 'For the third quarter 
ended 31 March 2018'); the heading for the figures should indicate whether they are presented for a quarter, a half-year or the 
financial year to date, as appropriate. 

HKAS 34 has a year-to-date approach to interim reporting and does not replicate the requirements of HKAS 1 in terms of 
comparative information. As a consequence, it is not necessary to provide an additional balance sheet (statement of financial 
position) as at the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented where an entity has made a retrospective change in 
accounting policies and/or a retrospective reclassification. 

The entity's annual financial statements give a comprehensive picture of the entity's state of affairs at the most recent year end and, 
therefore, the interim financial report should be read in conjunction with them. It is not necessary to give relatively insignificant 
updates to information already reported. The selected explanatory notes to the interim report should explain significant events and 
transactions that have occurred during the interim period [HKAS 34 para 15 and 15A].  
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The following is a list of events and transactions for which disclosures would be required if they are significant: the list is not 
exhaustive. 

(a) the write-down of inventories to net realisable value and the reversal of such a write-down; 
(b) recognition of a loss from the impairment of financial assets, property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, or other 

assets, and the reversal of such an impairment loss; 
(c) the reversal of any provisions for the costs of restructuring;  
(d) acquisitions and disposals of items of property, plant and equipment; 
(e) commitments for the purchase of property, plant and equipment; 
(f) litigation settlements; 
(g) corrections of prior period errors; 
(h) changes in the business or economic circumstances that affect the fair value of the entity’s financial assets and financial 

liabilities, whether those assets or liabilities are recognised at fair value or amortised cost; 
(i) any loan default or breach of a loan agreement that has not been remedied on or before the end of the reporting period;  
(j) related party transactions; 
(k) transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy used in measuring the fair value of financial instruments; 
(l) changes in the classification of financial assets as a result of a change in the purpose or use of those assets; and 
(m) changes in contingent liabilities or contingent assets. 

 

 [HKAS 34 para 15B] 

In addition to the above disclosures, the following should also be disclosed and normally be reported on a financial year-to-date 
basis [HKAS 34 para 16A]: 

●  A statement that the accounting policies and methods of computation used in the interim financial statements are the same as 
those used in the most recent annual financial statements or, if this is not the case, a description of the nature and effect of the 
change. 

●  Explanatory comments about seasonality or cyclicality of interim operations. 

●  The nature and amount of any items affecting assets, liabilities, equity, net income or cash flows that are unusual because of 
their size, nature or incidence. 

●  The nature and amount of changes in estimates of amounts reported in prior periods, either interim periods within the current 
financial year or in prior financial years. 

●  Issues, repurchases and repayments of debt and equity securities. 

●  Dividends paid (aggregate or per share) separately for ordinary shares and other shares. 

●  Segment information for companies that are required by HKFRS 8, ‘Operating segments’, to disclose segment information in 
their annual reports. The information required to be disclosed includes: 

  ■  Revenues from external customers and inter-segment revenues if these are included in the measure of segment profit or 
loss reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker or otherwise regularly provided to the chief operating decision-
maker. 

  ■ Intersegment revenues, if included in the measure of segment profit or loss reviewed by the chief operating decision 
maker or otherwise regularly provided to the chief operating decision maker. 

  ■ A measure of segment profit or loss. 

  ■ A measure of total assets and liabilities for a particular reportable segment if such amounts are regularly provided to the 
chief operating decision maker and if there has been a material change from the amount disclosed in the last annual 
financial statements. 

  ■ A description of differences from the last annual financial statements in the basis of segmentation or in the basis of 
measurement of segment profit or loss.  

  ■ A reconciliation of the total of the reportable segments measures of profit or loss to the entity’s profit or loss before tax 
expense and discontinued operations (this can be done on an after-tax basis if tax is allocated to reportable segments). 
Material reconciling items shall be separately identified and described in that reconciliation. 

●  Events after the interim period that have not been reflected in the financial statements of interim period. 

●  The effect of changes in the reporting entity's composition during the interim period, including business combinations, 
obtaining or losing control of subsidiaries and long-term investments, restructurings and discontinued operations. For 
business combinations the detailed information required to be disclosed by   HKFRS 3 paragraphs 59-62 and B64-B67. If the 
goodwill relating to the acquisition is material, the disclosure should also include a reconciliation of goodwill as per paragraph 
B67(d) of HKFRS 3. 

●  For financial instruments, the disclosures about fair value required by paragraphs 91-93(h), 94-96, 98 and 99 of HKFRS 13 
Fair Value Measurement and paragraphs 25, 26 and 28-30 of HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures. 

● For entities becoming, or ceasing to be, investment entities, as defined in HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, the 
disclosures in HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities paragraph 9B. 
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The entity may consider the impact since the previous period end on the entity's cash flows, funding and liquidity, valuations and 
impairments, pensions and going concern assumption and give appropriate and sufficient disclosure where this is necessary to 
understand the interim statements. 

The interim financial report should contain a statement that it is in compliance with HKAS 34. The report should not be described 
as complying with HKFRS unless it complies with all of the requirements of HKFRS [HKAS 34 paras 3, 19]. 

Management commentary2

HKAS 34 does not require entities to present a separate management commentary. Entities that prepare interim financial 
information are generally listed and should prepare management commentary in accordance with the regulations of the relevant 
stock exchange.  

The IASB issued a non-mandatory practice statement on management commentary in December 2010 that provides principles for 
the presentation of a narrative report on an entity's financial performance, position and cash flows. The practice statement does not 
provide specific application guidance on interim financial reporting. If management elects to prepare management commentary on 
interim financial information consistent with the guidance in the non-mandatory practice statement, we would expect them to 
apply a principle similar to HKAS 34 by providing an explanation of significant changes since the last annual financial statements 
and cross-referencing to the annual financial statements where applicable.  

The IASB's practice statement provides a broad framework of principles, qualitative characteristics and elements that might be used 
to provide users of financial reports with decision-useful information. The practice statement recommends that the commentary is 
entity-specific and may include the following components: 

 A description of the business including discussion of matters such as the industries, markets and competitive position; legal,
regulatory and macro-economic environment; and the entity's structure and economic model.

 Management's objectives and strategies to help users understand the priorities for action and the resources that must be
managed to deliver results.

 The critical financial and non-financial resources available to the entity and how those resources are used in meeting
management's objectives for the entity.

 The principal risks, and management's plans and strategies for managing those risks, and the effectiveness of those strategies.

 The performance and development of the entity to provide insights into the trends and factors affecting the business and to
help users understand the extent to which past performance may be indicative of future performance.

 The performance measures that management uses to evaluate the entity's performance against its objectives, which helps
users to assess the degree to which goals and objectives are being achieved.

Recognition and measurement 

Although interim financial reports prepared in accordance with HKAS 34 are not required to comply with the full requirements of 
HKAS 1, 'Presentation of financial statements', they are required to be prepared in accordance with certain of the fundamental 
principles that underpin HKAS 1. These fundamental principles include the preparation of the financial statements on a going 

2 According to MB Listing Rule Appendix 16 para 40(2) and GEM Listing Rule 18.59, a listed issuer shall include in its interim report a discussion and analysis of the 

group’s performance in the interim period covering the following: 
• the group’s liquidity and financial resources; 
• the capital structure of the group in terms of maturity profile of debt and obligations, type of capital instrument used, currency and interest rate structure;
• state of the group’s order book (where applicable) and prospects for new business; 
• significant investments held, their performance and future prospects;
• details of material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures; 
• comments on segmental information; 
• where applicable, details of number and remuneration of employees, remuneration policies, bonus and share option schemes and training schemes;
• details of the charges on group assets;
• details of future plans for material investments or capital assets and their expected sources of funding in coming year;
• gearing ratio (the basis on which the gearing ratio is computed should be disclosed);
• exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates and related hedges; and
• details of contingent liabilities, if any.

The discussion should include any significant information needed for investors to make an informed assessment of the trend of its activities and profit (or loss). It 
should identify and explain any special factor which has influenced its activities and its profit (or loss) during the period. It should provide a comparison with the 
corresponding period of the preceding financial year and must also, as far as possible, give an indication of the listed issuer’s prospects for the current financial year. 
Such discussion may focus only on the significant changes in the group’s performance since the most recent published annual report. Where the current information 
in relation to those matters set out above has not changed materially from the information disclosed in the most recent published annual report, a statement to this 
effect may be made and no additional disclosure is required. 

According to MB Listing Rule Appendix 16 para 52 and GEM Listing Rule 18.83, a listed issuer is encouraged to disclose the following additional commentary on 
discussion and analysis in its interim report: 
(i) efficiency indicators for the last five financial years indicating the bases of computation;
(ii) industry specific ratios, if any, for the last five financial years indicating the bases of computation;
(iii) a discussion of the listed issuer’s purpose, corporate strategy and principal drivers of performance;
(iv) an overview of trends in the listed issuer’s industry and business;
(v) a discussion on the listed issuer’s policies and performance on community, social, ethical and reputational issues; and 

(vi) receipts from, and returns to, shareholders.

Apart from the above disclosure requirements, there are also other disclosure requirements under Listing Rules.  Please refer to the "HK - MB/GEM - Half-year report 
and announcement checklist 2015" in the Template Manager for details. 
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concern basis, using the accruals basis, offsetting, applying consistent accounting policies that comply with HKFRS, materiality and 
aggregation [HKAS 1 para 4]. 

The interim financial report should be prepared using the same accounting policies that were applied in the preparation of the most 
recent annual financial statements. There is an exception where the entity plans or is required to change an accounting policy 
before the year end. In this case the accounting policy that will be applied in the next annual financial statements should be used in 
preparing the interim financial report and the nature and impact of the change in accounting policy should be disclosed [ HKAS 34 
para 28]. The prior interim periods of the current year and the comparable interim periods of the prior year should be restated 
[HKAS 34 para 43]. 

For the purposes of the interim financial report, the interim period should be treated as a discrete period and the entity should 
apply the same criteria at the end of the interim reporting period as it does at its year end when considering the accounting 
treatment of transactions. Assets and liabilities should be carried in the interim statement of financial position only where they 
meet the definition of an asset or a liability at the end of the interim reporting period [HKAS 34 para 29]. 

Revenue that is received seasonally, cyclically or occasionally within a financial year is not anticipated or deferred at the interim 
date if such treatment would not be appropriate at the end of the entity’s financial year [HKAS 34 para 37]. Highly seasonal 
businesses are encouraged to include financial information for the 12 months ending on the interim reporting date, with 
comparatives for the prior 12 month period [ HKAS 34 para 21]. Costs that are incurred unevenly during the year are only 
anticipated or deferred at the interim date if such treatment would also be appropriate at the year end [HKAS 34 para 39]. 

There are special requirements for measuring the interim income tax expense, which is accrued based on a full-year effective rate 
applied to the pre-tax income of the interim period. Appendix B to the standard contains further examples of applying the 
recognition and measurement criteria for a number of items including: payroll taxes, planned maintenance and overhaul, 
provisions, year-end bonuses, contingent lease payments, intangible assets, pensions, holiday pay, measurement of interim income 
tax expense, contractual purchase price changes, depreciation, inventories, foreign currency translation and impairment.  

The materiality used in the preparation of an interim financial report is calculated with respect to the results of that period and not 
by reference to an estimate of the results for the full year [HKAS 34 para 23]. 

HK(IFRIC)-Int 10, 'Interim financial reporting and impairment', addresses the issue of whether an impairment of goodwill or an 
investment recognised in an interim period may be reversed (in a subsequent interim period or in a subsequent full year accounts). 
HK(IFRIC)-Int 10 concludes that an entity should not reverse an impairment loss recognised in a previous interim period in respect 
of goodwill or an investment in either an equity instrument or a financial asset carried at cost [HK(IFRIC)-Int 10 para 8]. 

Alternative performance measures 

There has been increasing use of alternative performance measures (sometimes referred to as non-GAAP measures) in narrative 
and summary disclosures in recent years. This has raised concern among regulators and users of financial statements. A particular 
cause for concern is where such information is described as being more representative or reliable than the numbers reported in 
accordance with HKFRS. For example, the narrative discussion of performance may focus on strong growth in earnings before 
certain expenses, while the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income prepared in accordance with accounting 
standards shows a decline in profit, or even a loss. It is best practice for management to:   

 Make clear to the reader that any non-GAAP measures are adjusted;

 Reconcile non-GAAP measures to the numbers prepared in accordance with HKFRS; and

 Give HKFRS figures greater or at least the same prominence as non-GAAP figures.

First-time adoption of   HKFRS 

 HKFRS 1, 'First-time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards', applies to interim financial reports that are 
presented in accordance with HKAS 34 for part of the period covered by the entity's first HKFRS financial statements [HKFRS 1 
para 2(b)]. The first HKFRS interim report should contain sufficient detail to enable users to understand the effect of the transition 
(including the new HKFRS accounting policies), as well as the HKFRS 1 reconciliations between previous GAAP and HKFRS. This is 
likely to lead to a significantly longer report. 
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What are the top interim reporting pitfalls? 

Our experiences of reviewing interim reports suggest that the following errors or omissions are the most frequent: 

 Incorrect or no disclosure of new standards, amendments and IFRIC interpretations, effective for the first time for the current
interim period. 

 Basis of preparation note incorrect (for example, does not refer to  HKAS 34, or HKFRSs).

 Omission of the nature and amount of items that are unusual by their nature, size or incidence.

 Omission of some or all business combinations disclosures, especially those related to combinations after the interim
reporting date.

 Omission of details of material changes in estimates – for example, relating to provisions, defined benefit pension obligations
and impairments.

 No explanations of the effect of seasonality on operations.

 Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income includes incorrect entries or omits correct entries.



Swimodele Group 

Illustrative condensed consolidated interim 
financial information 

For the six months ended 30 June 2017 



Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards Illustrative 
Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial 
Information 
For the six months ended 30 June 2017 

This illustrative condensed consolidated interim financial information is prepared in accordance with HKAS 
34, 'Interim financial reporting'.  

The Company (Swimodele Group) manufactures and sells swimwear, swimming pool, sunglasses, and diving 
equipment, as well as beach shoes and accessories, through a network of independent retailers. Swimodele 
Group is an existing preparer of HKFRS consolidated financial statements; HKFRS 1, 'First-time adoption of 
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards' is not applicable. Swimodele Group is an issuer of shares and 
does not have listed debt. 

The HKFRS standards and HK(IFRIC) interpretations considered in preparing this illustrative interim 
financial information are those issued by the HKICPA in June 2017. 

This illustrative set of condensed consolidated interim financial information is also prepared in accordance with 
the requirements of Appendix 16 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of 
Hong Kong Limited and Chapter 18 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Growth Enterprise 
Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) which are published up to 1 June 
2017.  The minimum disclosures required under the Listing Rules have been highlighted in tangerine for easy 
reference.  

The example disclosures should not be considered as the only acceptable form of presentation. The form and 
content of each reporting entity's condensed consolidated interim financial information are the responsibility 
of the entity's management. Any form of presentation may be adopted, if it complies with the specific 
disclosure requirements prescribed in HKAS 34 and the Listing Rules. Appendix I to the illustrative 
condensed consolidated interim financial information illustrates the alternative presentation of primary 
statements – interim consolidated statement of comprehensive income as one single statement. 

This illustrative condensed consolidated interim financial information is not a substitute for reading the 
standards and interpretations themselves or for professional judgement as to fairness of presentation. It does 
not cover all possible disclosures that HKAS 34 and the Listing Rules require nor does it take account of any 
specific legal framework.  Additional accounting disclosures may be required in order to comply with local 
laws and/or stock exchange regulations. 

What is new in the 2017 illustrative condensed consolidated interim financial information? 

 There are only a limited number of amendments to the accounting standards that become applicable
from 1 January 2017. Entities will need to consider whether any of these amendments could affect
their existing accounting policies for their 2017 interim reports:
(a) Recognition of deferred tax assets for unrealised losses (amendments to HKAS 12 Income

taxes); and
(b) Disclosure initiative (amendments to HKAS 7 Statement of cash flows).

As the amendments are primarily clarifications, we have assumed that none of them required a 
change in Swimodele Group’s accounting policies. However, this assumption will not necessarily 
apply to all entities.  

 Where there has been a change in policy, this will need to be disclosed in the notes. We have
illustrated such a disclosure in Appendix II, by assuming that Swimodele Group has early adopted
the amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment that were made in June 2016.

 In addition, we have also revised the disclosures describing the expected impact of the adoption of
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments and HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. Both
standards will become effective from 1 January 2018 and regulators will expect to see more specific
disclosures about the estimated impact of adopting the new standards.
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Illustrative Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial 
Information 
For the six months ended 30 June 2017 

Format of the publication 

The references in the left-hand margin refer to the paragraph of the standard and the Listing Rules in which 
the disclosure appears, for example 

- '34p11' indicates HKAS 34 paragraph 11
- 'FRS3p67' indicates HKFRS 3 paragraph 67
- ‘AG5.16’ indicates AG5 paragraph 16;
- ‘AB6.13’ indicates AB6 paragraph 13; 
- ‘s383’ indicates the new Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), Section 383
- ‘MB14.08’ indicates paragraph 8 of Chapter 14 to the Main Board Listing Rules;
- ‘GEM18.15’ indicates paragraph 15 of Chapter 18 to the GEM Board Listing Rules;
- ‘A4(1)(a) indicates paragraph 4(1)(a) of Appendix 16 to the Main Board Listing Rules; and
- 'DV' (disclosure voluntary) indicates that disclosure is encouraged but not required.

This illustrative condensed consolidated interim financial information is designed for the information of 
readers.  While every effort has been made to ensure accuracy, information contained in this publication may 
not be comprehensive, or some information may have been omitted that may be relevant to a particular 
reader.  This publication is not intended as a study of all aspects of HKFRS and the Listing Rules or as a 
substitute for reading the actual Standards and regulatory requirements when dealing with specific issues.  
No responsibility for loss to any person acting or refraining from acting as a result of any material in this 
publication can be accepted by PricewaterhouseCoopers.  Recipients should not act on the basis of this 
publication without seeking professional advice. 
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Illustrative condensed consolidated interim financial information 
Swimodele Group – 30 June 2017 

New and amended standards that have been issued and are effective 
for periods commencing on 1 January 2017 

Standards Key requirements Early adoption and 

transition provision, if any 

(I) Changes effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017

Amendments to 

HKAS 12, 'Income 

taxes' 

These amendments on the recognition of deferred tax assets for 

unrealised losses clarify how to account for deferred tax assets 

related to debt instruments measured at fair value. 

An entity shall apply those 

amendments to HKAS 12 for 
annual periods beginning on 

or after 1 January 2017. 

Amendments to 

HKAS 7, ‘Statement of 

cash flows’ 

The amendments introduced an additional disclosure that will 

enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in 

liabilities arising from financing activities. 

An entity shall apply those 

amendments to HKAS 7 for 

annual periods beginning on 

or after 1 January 2017. 

Amendment to 

HKFRS 12, ‘Disclosure 

of interest in other 

entities’ 

The amendment is part of the annual improvements to HKFRSs 
2014-2016 cycle. It clarifies that the disclosure requirement of 
HKFRS 12 is applicable to interest in entities classified as held for 
sale except for summarised financial information (para B17 of 
HKFRS 12). 

An entity shall apply this 

amendment retrospectively for 

annual periods beginning on 

or after 1 January 2017. 
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1 

34p8(b), 34p10 
34p20(b)  
A40(1), A4(1) 
GEM18.50B(1), 
GEM18.55(8) 

Interim condensed consolidated statement of profit or loss 

Unaudited1 
Six months ended 30 June 

Note 2017 2016 
HK$’000 HK$’000 

Continuing operations 
1p82(a) Revenue 7 36,300 33,924 
1p99, 2p36(d) Cost of sales 11 (16,506) (16,654) 

Gross profit 19,794 17,270 

Other gains 1,050 750 
1p99 Distribution costs         (9,509)         (8,168) 
1p99 Administrative expenses (4,513) (3,830) 

Operating profit 7, 11 6,822 6,022 
Finance income 1 1 

1p82(b) Finance costs  (869) (739) 
Share of post-tax profits of associates 10 145 55 
Profit before income tax 6,099 5,339 

Income tax expense 12 (1,471) (767) 
Profit for the period from continuing 

operations 4,628 4,572 

FRS5p33(a) Discontinued operations 
Profit for the period from discontinued operations 8 60 85 

Profit for the period 4,688 4,657 

Profit attributable to: 
– Owners of the Company 3,838 3,652 
– Non-controlling interests 850 1,005 

4,688 4,657 

1 A43, GEM18.64 Where the accounting information given in an interim report has not been audited that fact must be stated.  If the accounting 

information contained in an interim report has been audited by the listed issuer’s auditor, this report thereon including any 
qualifications shall be reproduced in full in the interim report. 
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Interim condensed consolidated statement of profit or loss (Continued) 

Unaudited 
Six months ended 30 June 

2017 2016 
Cents per share Cents per share 

34p11 

Earnings per share from continuing and 
discontinued operations attributable to 
owners of the Company2 

Basic earnings per share 
33p66 From continuing operations 24.9 23.6 
33p68 From discontinued operations 0.4 0.6 

34p11, 11A 25.3 24.2 

Diluted earnings per share 
33p66 From continuing operations 23.8 22.5 
33p68 From discontinued operations 0.3 0.5 

34p11, 11A 24.1 23.0 

The notes on pages 10 to 37 form an integral part of this interim consolidated financial information. 

PwC Commentary - Dividend 

HKAS 1 p107 requires an entity to present the amount of dividends recognised as distributions to 
owners during the period either in the statement of changes in equity or in the notes, because dividends 
are distributions to owners in their capacity as owners and the statement of changes in equity presents 
all owner changes in equity.  In the basis of conclusion of HKAS 1, the Board concluded that an entity 
should not present dividends in the statement of comprehensive income because that statement 
presents non-owners’ changes in equity.   

2 HKAS 33p68 requires presentation of basic and diluted amounts per share for discontinued operations either in the statement of profit or loss or in the 

notes to the financial statements. This Group has elected to show this information in the statement of profit or loss. 
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34p8(b), 34p10 
34p20(b) 
A40(1), A4(1) 
GEM18.50B(1), 
GEM18.55(8) 

Interim condensed consolidated statement of comprehensive income 

Unaudited 
Six months ended 30 June 

2017 2016 
HK$’000 HK$’000 

Profit for the period 4,688 4,657 
Other comprehensive income 

1p82A 

Item that will not be reclassified subsequently to 
profit or loss 

1p82A 

Share of other comprehensive income of associates 
accounted for under equity method3 - - 
- Revaluation of property, plant and equipment
Remeasurements of post employment benefit

obligations 19 104 (164) 

1p82A Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss 
Fair value gains on available-for-sale financial assets, 

net of tax 82 70 

1p82A 

Share of other comprehensive income of associates 
accounted for under equity method 
- Reversal of investment  revaluation reserve upon
step acquisition of an associate (30) - 
- Share of currency translation reserve 20 - 
Cash flow hedges, net of tax (60) (40) 
Net investment hedge 4 - 
Currency translation differences (11) (24) 
Total items that may be reclassified 

subsequently to profit or loss 5 6 

1p91 Other comprehensive income for the period, 
net of tax4 109 (158) 

Total comprehensive income for the period 4,797 4,499 

Total comprehensive income for the period 
attributable to: 
– Owners of the Company 3,947 3,494 
– non-controlling interests 850 1,005 

4,797 4,499 

Total comprehensive income attributable to 
owners of the Company arising from5: 

Continuing operations 3,887 3,409 
FRS5p33(d) Discontinued operations 8 60 85 

3,947 3,494 

The notes on pages 10 to 37 form an integral part of this interim consolidated financial information. 

3 For illustrative purpose only, not relevant to Swimodele Group.

4 Alternatively each component of other comprehensive income may be presented before related tax effects with one line item shown for the aggregate 

amounts of income tax relating to those components.
5 HKFRS 5p33(d) requires the disclosure of the amount of total comprehensive income from continuing operations and from discontinued operations 

attributable to owners of the Company. These disclosures may be presented either in the notes or in the statement of comprehensive income. 
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34p8(a), 34p10, 
34p20(a) 
A40(1), A4(2) 
GEM18.50B(2) 
GEM18.55(8) 

Interim condensed consolidated balance sheet6 

Unaudited Audited 
Note 30 June 2017 31 December 2016 

HK$’000 HK$’000 
ASSETS 
Non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment 14 16,648 18,595 
Investment properties 14 5,200 4,300 
Goodwill 14 360 - 
Other intangible assets 14 6,122 3,140 
Deferred income tax assets 85 77 
Investments in associates 10 980 290 
Available-for-sale financial assets 3,901 3,999 
Other non-current financial assets 503 800 
Derivative financial instruments 654 960 
Total non-current assets 34,453 32,161 

Current assets 
Inventories 14,490 13,990 

A4(2)(a) 
GEM18.50B(2)(a) 

Trade and other receivables 15 10,241 10,935 

Other current financial assets 279 206 
Derivative financial instruments 400 665 
Cash and cash equivalents 2,637 1,798 

28,047 27,594 
IFRS5 p38, 40 Assets of disposal group classified as held for sale 8 1,400 - 

Total current assets 29,447 27,594 

Total assets 63,900  59,755 

EQUITY 
Equity attributable to owners of the 
Company 
Share capital 16 24,632 24,032 
Other reserves 3,818 3,056 
Retained profits 8,214 5,426 

36,664 32,514 
Non-controlling interests 5,393 4,995 
Total equity 42,057 37,509 

LIABILITIES 
Non-current liabilities 
Borrowings  17 6,430 6,810 
Deferred income tax liabilities 18 609 323 
Retirement benefit obligations 19 2,382 2,888 
Provisions  20 1,305 977 
Other non-current financial liabilities 2,037 1,396 
Derivative financial instruments 60 234 
Total non-current liabilities 12,823 12,628 

Current liabilities 
A4(2)(b), 
GEM18.50B(2)(b) 

Trade and other payables 21 6,458 7,249 

Current income tax liabilities 587 728 
Borrowings  17 827 603 
Derivative financial instruments 49 100 
Provisions  20 359 938 

8,280 9,618 

IFRS5 p38, 40 
Liabilities of disposal group classified as held for 

sale 8 740 - 
Total current liabilities 9,020 9,618 
Total liabilities 21,843 22,246 

Total equity and liabilities  63,900 59,755 

The notes on pages 10 to 37 form an integral part of this interim consolidated financial information. 

6 The balance sheet is referred to in HKAS 1 as the ‘statement of financial position’. Either name can be used.  
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34p8(c), 

34p10 

 Interim condensed consolidated statement of changes in equity 

Unaudited 

Attributable to owners 

of the Company 

Share 

capital 

Other 

reserves 

Retained 

profits Total 

Non-

controlling 

interests Total equity 

Note HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 

34p20(c) 

Balance at 1 January 

2017 24,032 3,056 5,426 32,514 4,995 37,509 

Profit for the period - - 3,838 3,838 850 4,688 

Other comprehensive 

income (loss) - 109 - 109 - 109

Total comprehensive 

income for the period 

ended 30 June 2017 – 109 3,838 3,947 850 4,797 

Total transactions with 

owners, recognised 

directly in equity 

Employees share option 

scheme: 

– value of employee services – 730 – 730 – 730

– proceeds from shares

issued

16 

600 – – 600 – 600 

Buy-back of shares7   16(a) – – (195) (195) – (195) 

Acquisition of a subsidiary 9 – – – – 250 250 

Disposal of a subsidiary with 

loss of control – – – – (132) (132)

Changes in ownership 

interests in subsidiaries 

without change of control 

22 

– (30) – (30) (343) (373) 

Dividends relating to 2016 

paid in May 2017 

13 

– – (979) (979) (227) (1,206) 

Convertible bond – equity 

component 

17 

– 77 – 77 – 77 

600 777 (1,174) 203 (452) (249) 

Balance at 30 June 2017 24,632 3,942 8,214 36,664 5,393 42,057 

7 In accordance with section 257 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), the payment for buy-back of shares of companies incorporated and 

listed in Hong Kong from the stock market may be made (a) out of the Company’s distributable profits; or (b) out of the proceeds of a fresh issue of 
shares made for the purpose of the buy-back. 
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34p8(c), 

34p10 

 Interim condensed consolidated statement of changes in equity (Continued) 

Unaudited 

Attributable to owners 

of the Company 

Share 

capital 

Other 

reserves 

Retained 

profits Total 

Non-

controlling 

interests Total equity 

Note HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 

34p20(c) 

Balance at 1 January 

2016 23,917 1,297 3,376 28,590 3,899 32,489 

Profit for the period - - 3,652 3,652 1,005 4,657 

Other comprehensive 

income (loss) - (158) - (158) - (158) 

Total comprehensive 

income for the period 

ended 30 June 2016 – (158) 3,652 3,494 1,005 4,499 

Total transactions with 

owners, recognised 

directly in equity: 

Employees share option 

scheme: 

– value of employee services – 500 – 500 – 500

– proceeds from shares

issued 16 800 – – 800 – 800 

Dividends relating to 2015

paid in May 2016 13 – – (1,659) (1,659) (252) (1,911)

800 500 (1,659) (359) (252) (611) 

Balance at 30 June 2016 24,717 1,639 5,369 31,725 4,652 36,377 

The notes on pages 10 to 37 form an integral part of this interim consolidated financial information. 
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34p8(d) 
(x)  
34p20(d) 
 

Interim condensed consolidated statement of cash flows 

  Unaudited 
  Six months ended 30 June 
  Note 2017 2016 
   HK$’000 HK$’000 
     
 Cash flows from operating activities    
 Continuing operations  13,584 9,617 
 Income tax paid  (873) (723) 
 Discontinued operations8 8 720 1,166 

 Cash flows from operating activities – net  13,431 10,060 

     
 Cash flows from investing activities    
 Continuing operations    
 – acquisition of a subsidiary, net of cash acquired 9 (3,575) – 
 – step acquisition of an associate 10 (405) – 

 

– purchases of property, plant and equipment and 
investment properties 

14 (8,677) (7,204) 

 

– proceeds on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment 

 300 60 

 – purchase of other intangible assets  (3,285) – 
 – other investing cash flow – net  445 275 
 – net proceeds on disposal of subsidiaries  300 – 
 Discontinued operations8 8 3,583 (92) 

 Cash flows from investing activities – net  (11,314) (6,961) 

     
 Cash flows from financing activities    
 Continuing operations    
34p16A(f) – dividends paid to equity holders and non-controlling 

interests 
13 (1,206) (1,911) 

34p16A(e) – issue of convertible bonds 17 1,000 – 
34p16A(e) – repayments of borrowings 17 (653) (225) 
34p16A(e) – proceeds from other borrowings 17 – 250 
 – other finance cash flows – net  (9) 63 
7p42A – transactions with non-controlling interests  22 (373) – 
 – purchase of treasury shares 16 (195) – 
 Discontinued operations8 8 (105) (103) 

 Cash flows from financing activities – net  (1,541) (1,926) 

     

 Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  576 1,173 
 Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period  1,698 1,927 
 Exchange gains/(losses)   93 (17) 

 Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period  2,367 3,083 

 Cash and cash equivalents comprises:    
 Bank overdrafts   (270) (145) 
 Cash and banks  2,637 3,228 

 Cash and cash equivalents  2,367 3,083 

  
 The notes on pages 10 to 37 form an integral part of this interim consolidated financial information. 
  

 

PwC Commentary - Three-line condensed statement of cash flows showing only a total for each of 
operating, investing and financing cash flow activities is not sufficient 

  

 

In the IFRIC meeting in March 2014, IFRIC noted that three-line presentation would generally not meet the 
requirements in IAS 34. IAS/HKAS 34.10 requires additional line items to be included if their omission would 
make the interim financial statements misleading. An explanation of events and transactions that are significant 
and relevant to an understanding of the changes in financial position and performance of the entity since the end 
of the last annual reporting period should be included [IAS/HKAS 34.15 and IAS/HKAS 34.25]. For detail of the 
IFRIC’s discussion, please refer to IFRIC March 2014 Update. 

  

                                                                    

FRS5p33(c) 8 The net cash flows relating to the operating, investing and financing activities of discontinued operations may either be presented 

on the face of the statement of cash flow or in the notes. 
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 Commentary - Consolidated interim financial statements 
  
 Condensed financial statements 
  
 1. An interim financial report contains either a complete set of financial statements as described in HKAS 1 

Presentation of Financial Statements or a set of condensed financial statements as described in HKAS 34 
Interim Financial Reporting. 

  
34p10 2. If an entity publishes condensed financial statements in its interim financial report, these condensed financial 

statements shall include, at a minimum, each of the headings and subtotals that were included in its most 
recent annual financial report and the selected explanatory notes as required by HKAS 34 Interim Financial 
Reporting. 

  
 3. The interim financial report for Swimodele Group contains condensed financial statements, in that it does not 

include all of the notes that would be required in a complete set of financial statements. However, the primary 
financial statements are presented in a format consistent with the consolidated financial statements that are 
required to be presented in an annual financial report under HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements. 
This is common and considered best practice. 

  
 4. In some countries, the extent to which line items may be aggregated in condensed interim financial statements 

may also be governed by local regulators or market requirements. 
  
34p10 5. Additional line items or notes shall be included if their omission would make the condensed interim financial 

report misleading. Certain transactions may not be significant in the context of the annual report, but may 
need to be separately disclosed in the interim report. An example could be costs that are incurred unevenly 
during the year and that require separate presentation in the interim statement of profit or loss, but not in the 
annual financial statements. 

  
 Periods covered 
  
34p20(a)-(d) 6. The following tables summarise which statements need to be presented by entities that prepare half-yearly or 

quarterly reports. 
  
  
 Half-yearly reporting for period ending 30 June 2017  
 Statement  Current  Comparative   
 Balance sheet at  30 June 2017 31 December 2016  
 Statement of comprehensive income (and separate 

statement of profit or loss, where applicable) :  
- 6 months ended  

 
 
30 June 2017  

 
 
30 June 2016 

 

 Statement of changes in equity:  
- 6 months ended  

 
30 June 2017  

 
30 June 2016  

 

 Statement of cash flows:  
- 6 months ended  

 
30 June 2017  

 
30 June 2016  

 

     
 Quarterly reporting – second quarter interim report for period ending 30 June 2017  
 Statement  Current  Comparative   
 Balance sheet at  30 June 2017 31 December 2016  
 Statement of comprehensive income (and separate 

statement of profit or loss, where applicable) :  
- 6 months ended  
- 3 months ended  

 
 
30 June 2017  
30 June 2017  

 
 
30 June 2016 
30 June 2016  

 

 Statement of changes in equity:  
- 6 months ended  

 
30 June 2017  

 
30 June 2016  

 

 Statement of cash flows:  
- 6 months ended  

 
30 June 2017  

 
30 June 2016  

 

     

 
  



Illustrative condensed consolidated interim financial information 
Swimodele Group – 30 June 2017 

9 

Commentary - Consolidated interim financial statements (Continued) 

34p20(b) 7. For a half-year report, the current interim period and the annual reporting period to date are the same.
However, where an entity prepares quarterly interim financial reports, the statement of comprehensive
income in the interim financial reports for the second and third quarters will need to include additional
columns showing the annual reporting period to date and the comparative annual reporting period to date for
the corresponding interim period (see table in paragraph 6 above).

8. This interim report is for half-year period. If an interim financial report is presented for a different interim
reporting period, the heading of the financial statements should specify the interim reporting period covered
(eg ‘For the quarter ended 31 March 2017’ or ‘For the third quarter ended 30 September 2017’) and the
heading for the figures should indicate whether they are presented for a quarter, a half-year or the annual
reporting period to date, as appropriate.

Third balance sheet 
1pBC33 9. HKAS 34 has a year-to-date approach to interim reporting and does not replicate the requirements of HKAS 1

in terms of comparative information. As a consequence, it is not necessary to provide an additional balance
sheet (statement of financial position) as at the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented where
an entity has made a retrospective change in accounting policies and/or a retrospective reclassification.

Separate statement of profit or loss 
1p10A  
34p8A 

10. HKAS 1 permits entities to present the components of profit or loss either as part of a single statement of
comprehensive income or in a separate statement of profit or loss. If an entity has decided to retain a separate
statement of profit or loss in its annual financial statements it shall also use this format for its interim report.

Earnings per share 
34p11,11A 

33p68 

11. Entities that are within the scope of HKAS 33, ‘Earnings per share’ shall present basic and dilutive earnings per
share (EPS) for the interim period as follows:
 in the statement of comprehensive income – if the entity presents a single statement; or
 in the statement of profit or loss – if the entity presents a separate statement of profit or loss and statement

of comprehensive income.

12. HKAS 34 does not specifically require disclosure of EPS for profit from continuing and discontinued operations,
but where there are significant discontinued operations, we recommend that they be disclosed separately as
required in an annual statement by HKAS 33. 

Cash flows relating to discontinued operations 
5p33(c) 13. The net cash flows relating to the operating, investing and financing activities of discontinued operations may

either be presented on the face of the statement of cash flows or in the notes. The Group has disclosed the
information on the face of the statement of cash flows and has made an accounting policy decision that the
proceeds of disposal are treated as a component of the investing cash flows from discontinued operations. It
has identified in the narrative to the note of the proceeds of disposal.

An alternate policy would be to include the proceeds of disposal as a component of the investing cash flows of 
continuing operations. 
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34p8(e) Notes to the condensed consolidated interim financial information 

1 General information9 

1p138(a)(b) Swimodele ('the Company’) and its subsidiaries (together, 'the Group’) manufacture and sell swimwear, 
swimming pool, sunglasses, and diving equipment, and beach shoes and accessories, through a network of 
independent retailers. The Group has operations mainly in Hong Kong, the US and the UK. 

1p138(a)(b) The Company is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in Hong Kong. The address of its 
registered office is 11/F, Nice Building, Cityplaza Three, 14 Taikoo Wan Road, Taikoo Shing, Island East, 
Hong Kong. 

The Company has its primary listing on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. 

This condensed consolidated interim financial information is presented in HK dollars, unless otherwise 
stated. 

The financial information relating to the year ended 31 December 2016 that is included in the condensed 
consolidated interim financial information for the six months ended 30 June 2017 as comparative 
information does not constitute the Company's statutory annual consolidated financial statements for that 
year but is derived from those financial statements. Further information relating to these statutory financial 
statements required to be disclosed in accordance with section 436 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance 
(Cap. 622) is as follows: 

The Company has delivered the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 to the Registrar of 
Companies as required by section 662(3) of, and Part 3 of Schedule 6 to, the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance (Cap. 622). 

The Company's auditor has reported on those financial statements. The auditor's report was unqualified; did 
not include a reference to any matters to which the auditor drew attention by way of emphasis without 
qualifying its report; and did not contain a statement under sections 406(2), 407(2) or (3) of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622)*. 

s436(3) 
AB6.13, 25, 30, IE2, 
IE3, IE6 

PwC Commentary – Statement required by Section 436(3) of the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance (Cap. 622) in relation to the publication of the non-statutory accounts for the 
comparative financial year included in this condensed consolidated interim financial 
information - Applicable to Hong Kong incorporated companies only (listed/unlisted)  

The above paragraphs (or similar wording that covers all the matters that are required to be stated by section 
436(3)) must be included in (or accompany) the non-statutory accounts to fulfil the requirements of Section 
436(3) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) regarding the publication of non-statutory 
accounts.  

* If the auditor's report on the comparative full year financial statements was qualified or modified or the
auditor had drawn attention to a matter by way of emphasis or it contained any of the statements under
section 406(2) (information in the directors' report is inconsistent with the financial statements), 407(2)
(accounting records inadequate or financial statements not agreeing with accounting records) or 407(3) 
(failure to obtain necessary information and explanations), it will be necessary to adapt the illustrated
wording to give information required by section 436(3)(d), as appropriate. It would be informative if a brief
description is provided of the matter or matters addressed in the auditor's report. Section 436(4) expressly
prohibits the full auditor's report accompanying the non-statutory accounts.

9 MB18.14,  

GEM18A.14 Mineral Companies (defined as one whose “major activity*, whether directly or through its subsidiaries, involves the exploration for 
or extraction of natural resources including minerals, oil and gas or solid fuels”) are required to include in their interim (half-yearly) 
and annual reports details of their exploration, development and mining production activities and a summary of expenditure 
incurred on these activities during the period under review.  If there has been no exploration, development or production activity, 
that fact must be stated. 

* Major activity would be determined by whether the activity represented 25 per cent or more of the company’s total assets,
revenue or operating expenses 
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34p8(e) Notes to the condensed consolidated interim financial information (Continued) 

Significant events and transactions 

34p6,34p15,15B The operational highlight of the period was the acquisition of Chanoos Ltd, a company that manufactures 
swim wears. Further details are given in Note 9. 

The Group sold its beach accessories subsidiary during the period, in order to focus on the core swimwear and 
diving products divisions. Further details are given in Note 8(a). 

On 12 May 2017, the Group also disposed of its 90% equity interest in a wholly owned subsidiary, which was 
engaged in trading of sunglasses, for a cash consideration of HK$350,000. A gain on disposal of the equity 
interest of HK$150,000 and a gain on retained interest of HK$30,000 were resulted and had been recognised 
in the interim condensed consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

In June 2017 the Group renegotiated its existing loan facility to finance the construction of the new production 
plant for the swimwear division.  Further details are given in Note 17. 

During the period the directors decided to dispose of the Swimming pool cash generating unit (“SPCGU”) and 
solicited offers for the business. The SPCGU does not meet the criteria for classification as held for sale at the 
interim reporting date. Further details of the impairment of the cash generating units are given in Note 11. 

A new legal claim in respect of the Group’s swimming pool alarms not meeting European security criteria 
arose in May 2017. Further details of the provision in respect of this claim and the write-downs of inventory 
are given in Notes 20 and 11, respectively. 

On 12 June 2017, the Group announced its intention to acquire all the shares of Supa Boots Ltd for 
HK$2,200,000. The transaction still has to be approved by the Group’s shareholders and by regulatory 
authorities. Approvals are not expected until late 2017 or early 2018. Further details are given in Note 25. 

On 2 August 2017, there was severe flooding in one of the Group’s major Eastern European swimwear 
manufacturing factories. Further details are given in Note 25. 

2 Basis of preparation 

34p6, 34p19 
A38 
GEM18.55(Note 1) 

This condensed consolidated interim financial information for the six months ended 30 June 2017 has been 
prepared in accordance with HKAS 34, ‘Interim financial reporting’. The condensed consolidated interim 
financial information should be read in conjunction with the annual financial statements for the year ended 31 
December 2016, which have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs. 

PwC commentary – Going concern basis 

Although it is not an explicit requirement under HKAS 34 to disclose the interim financial 
statements are prepared on a going concern basis, going concern is one of the underlying 
assumptions of financial reporting and is also applicable to interim reporting. If there is a going 
concern issue, merely disclosing a statement in the interim report that the same accounting 
policies and presentation as adopted in the most recent annual financial statements is not 
adequate. The interim report should disclose the material uncertainties and an explanation on 
why the directors believe preparing the interim report on a going concern basis is appropriate. 
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3 Accounting policies 

34p28, 34p16A(a) 
A37.2 
GEM18.55(Note 5) 
34pB12 

The accounting policies applied are consistent with those of the annual financial statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2016, as described in those annual financial statements, except for the estimation of 
income tax using the tax rate that would be applicable to expected total annual earnings and the adoption of 
amendments to HKFRSs effective for the financial year ending 31 December 2017. 

(a) Amendments to HKFRSs effective for the financial year ending 31 December 2017 do not have a material
impact on the Group10.

(b) Impact of standards issued but not yet applied by the Group

(i) HKFRS 9 Financial instruments

34p16A(a) 
(revised requirement) 

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments addresses the classification, measurement and derecognition of financial 
assets and financial liabilities, introduces new rules for hedge accounting and a new impairment model for 
financial assets. The group has decided not to adopt HKFRS 9 until it becomes mandatory on 1 January 2018. 

The group does not expect the new guidance to have a significant impact on the classification and 
measurement of its financial assets for the following reasons: 
 The debt instruments that are currently classified as available-for-sale (AfS) financial assets appear to

satisfy the conditions for classification as at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and
hence there will be no change to the accounting for these assets.

 A FVOCI election is available for the equity instruments which are currently classified as AfS.
 Equity investments currently measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) will likely continue to

be measured on the same basis under HKFRS 9.
 Debt instruments currently classified as held-to-maturity and measured at amortised cost appear to meet

the conditions for classification at amortised cost under HKFRS 9.

There will be no impact on the group’s accounting for financial liabilities, as the new requirements only affect 
the accounting for financial liabilities that are designated at fair value through profit or loss and the group 
does not have any such liabilities. The derecognition rules have been transferred from HKAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and have not been changed. 

The new hedge accounting rules will align the accounting for hedging instruments more closely with the 
group’s risk management practices. As a general rule, more hedge relationships might be eligible for hedge 
accounting, as the standard introduces a more principles-based approach. However, at this stage the group 
does not expect to identify any new hedge relationships. It would appear that the group’s current hedge 
relationships would qualify as continuing hedges upon the adoption of HKFRS 9. Accordingly, the group does 
not expect a significant impact on the accounting for its hedging relationships. 

The new impairment model requires the recognition of impairment provisions based on expected credit losses 
(ECL) rather than only incurred credit losses as is the case under HKAS 39. It applies to financial assets 
classified at amortised cost, debt instruments measured at FVOCI, contract assets under HKFRS 15 Revenue 
from Contracts with Customers, lease receivables, loan commitments and certain financial guarantee 
contracts. If the group were to adopt the new rules from 1 January 2017, it estimates that it would have to 
increase its loss allowance for trade receivables by approximately HK$xx from that date. Deferred tax assets 
would increase by approximately HK$xx and retained earnings would decrease by HK$xx. 

The new standard also introduces expanded disclosure requirements and changes in presentation. These are 
expected to change the nature and extent of the group’s disclosures about its financial instruments 
particularly in the year of the adoption of the new standard. 

10 For full list of new standards / interpretation, please refer to page (i) of this illustrative condensed consolidated interim financial information. For

further guidance, please refer to PwC Commentary – Notes to the condensed consolidated interim financial information (Accounting policies). 
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 3 Accounting policies (Continued) 
  
 (b) Impact of standards issued but not yet applied by the Group (Continued) 
  
(Revised requirement) (ii) HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers 
 The HKICPA has issued a new standard for the recognition of revenue. This will replace HKAS 18 which 

covers revenue arising from the sale of goods and the rendering of services and HKAS 11 which covers 
construction contracts. 
 
The new standard is based on the principle that revenue is recognised when control of a good or service 
transfers to a customer. 
 
The standard permits either a full retrospective or a modified retrospective approach for the adoption. The 
new standard is effective for first interim periods within annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2018. The group will adopt the new standard from 1 January 2018. 
 
Management has identified the following areas that are likely to be affected: 
 
 bundle sales – the application of HKFRS 15 may result in the identification of separate performance 

obligations which could affect the timing of the recognition of revenue  
 accounting for the customer loyalty programme – HKFRS  15 requires that the total consideration 

received must be allocated to the points and goods based on relative stand-alone selling prices rather than 
based on the residual value method; this could result in higher amounts being allocated to the loyalty 
points and delay the recognition of a portion of the revenue  

 accounting for costs incurred in fulfilling a contract – certain costs which are currently expensed may 
need to be recognised as an asset under HKFRS 15, and  

 rights of return – HKFRS 15 requires separate presentation on the balance sheet of the right to recover 
the goods from the customer and the refund obligation.  

 
Had the standard had been adopted from 1 January 2017, the group estimates that it would have to make the 
following adjustments to the amounts recognized in the financial statements: 
 a small decrease of the liabilities for the customer loyalty programme by HK$xx, a decrease of deferred 

tax assets by HK$xx and an increase of retained earnings by HK$xx, and 
 the reclassification of various amounts to new balance sheet items of contract assets and contract 

liabilities. 
  
(Revised requirement) (iii) HKFRS 16 Leases 
 HKFRS 16 was issued in January 2016. It will results in almost all leases being recognized on the balance 

sheet, as the distinction between operating and finance leases is removed. Under the new standard, an asset 
(the right to use the leased item) and a financial liability to pay rentals are recognized. The only exceptions 
are short-term and low-value leases. 
 
The accounting for lessors will not significantly change. 
 
The standard will affect primarily the accounting for the group’s operating leases. As at the reporting date, 
the group has non-cancellable operating lease commitments of HK$xx. However, the group has not yet 
determined to what extent these commitments will result in the recognition of an asset and a liability for 
future payments and how this will affect the group’s profit and classification of cash flows. 
 
Some of the commitments may be covered by the exception for short-term and low-value leases and some 
commitments may relate to arrangements that will not qualify as leases under HKFRS 16. 
 
The standard is mandatory for first interim periods within annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2019. At this stage, the group does not intend to adopt the standard before its effective date. 
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 4 Estimates 
  
34p41 The preparation of interim financial information requires management to make judgements, estimates and 

assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities, income and expense. Actual results may differ from these estimates.  

  

 34p16A(d) In preparing this condensed consolidated interim financial information, the significant judgements made by 
management in applying the Group’s accounting policies and the key sources of estimation uncertainty were 
the same as those that applied to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016, 
with the exception of changes in estimates that are required in determining the provision for income taxes and 
disclosure of unusual items (see Note 11). 

  
 5 Financial risk management and financial instruments 
  
 5.1 Financial risk factors 

  
FRS7p31 The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair value 

interest rate risk, cash flow interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.  
 
The interim condensed consolidated financial information do not include all financial risk management 
information and disclosures required in the annual financial statements, and should be read in conjunction 
with the Group’s annual financial statements as at 31 December 2016.  
 
There have been no changes in the risk management policies since year end. 

  
 5.2 Liquidity risk 
  
 Compared to year end, there was no material change in the contractual undiscounted cash out flows for 

financial liabilities. For one non-current borrowing of HK$1,500,000 with maturity date 30 September 2018, 
the Group expects early settlement in 2017 due to the continuing positive cash flows from operating activities.  

  
34p15B(h),15C 5.3 Fair value estimation  
  
 The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. The different levels 

have been defined as follows:  
 Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1). 
 Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 

directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2). 
 Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) 

(level 3). 
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 5    Financial risk management and financial instruments (Continued) 
  

34p15B(h),15C 5.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 
  

FRS 13p 93(a),(b) The following table presents the Group's financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value at 30 
June 2017. 

  

  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 

     

Assets     

     

Trading derivatives – 434 220 654 

Derivatives used for hedging – 400 – 400 

Available-for-sale financial assets     

– Equity securities 553 – – 553 

– Debt investments 3,112 236 – 3,348 

Total assets 3,665 1,070 220 4,955 

     

Liabilities     

 Contingent consideration – – 60 60 

 
 

Derivatives used for hedging – 109 – 109 

Total liabilities – 109 60 169 

     

 The following table presents the Group's financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value at 31 
December 2016. 

  

  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 

Assets     

Trading derivatives – 802 158 960 

Derivatives used for hedging – 665 – 665 

Available-for-sale financial assets     

– Equity securities 446 – – 446 

– Debt investments 3,311 242 – 3,553 

Total assets 3,757 1,709    158 5,624 

Liabilities     

Derivatives used for hedging – 334 – 334 

Total liabilities – 334 – 334 
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 5    Financial risk management and financial instruments (Continued) 
  
34915B(h),15C 5.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 
  
FRS13 p93(c) There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 during the period. Transfers between Levels 2 and 3 are 

addressed in the level 3 reconciliation below. 
  
FRS13 p93(d)  There were no other changes in valuation techniques during the period. 
  
34p15B(b) The Group reclassified available-for-sale investments losses of HK$87,000 (2016: HK$35,000) from other 

comprehensive income into the interim consolidated statement of profit or loss. Losses in the amount of 
HK$55,000 (2016: HK$20,000) were due to impairments. 

  
 5.4 Valuation techniques used to derive Level 2 fair values 
  
FRS13p 93 (d) Level 2 trading and hedging derivatives comprise forward foreign exchange contracts and interest rate 

swaps. These forward foreign exchange contracts have been fair valued using forward exchange rates that 
are quoted in an active market. Interest rate swaps are fair valued using forward interest rates extracted 
from observable yield curves. The effects of discounting are generally insignificant for Level 2 derivatives. 

  
 Level 2 debt investments are fair valued using a discounted cash flow approach, which discounts the 

contractual cash flows using discount rates derived from observable market prices of other quoted debt 
instruments of the counterparties. 

  
34p15B(k), 15C 
FRS13p 93(e) 

5.5 Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) 

  
 

30 June 2017 

Trading 
derivatives at fair 

value through 
profit or loss 

Contingent 
consideration in 

a business 
combination 

  HK$’000 HK$’000 
    
 Opening balance at 1 January  158 - 
 Transfers to/(from) Level 3* 240 - 
 Settlements (158) - 
 Acquisition of Shoe Shop Ltd (Note 9) - (50) 
 Losses recognised in profit or loss (20) (10) 
 Closing balance at 30 June  220 (60) 
FRS13p 
93(e)(f) 

Total unrealised losses for the period included in profit or 
loss for assets held at the end of the reporting period 20 (10) 

    
 

30 June 2016 

Trading 
derivatives at fair 

value through 
profit or loss  

  HK$’000  
    
 Opening balance at 1 January  100  
 Settlements (50)  
 Gains recognised in profit or loss 124  
 Closing balance at 30 June  174  
FRS13p 
93(e)(f) 

Total unrealised gains for the period included in profit or loss 
for assets held at the end of the reporting period 124  

    
 * In 2017, the Group transferred a held-for-trading forward foreign exchange contract that has been fair 

valued using a discounted cash flow approach, from Level 2 into Level 3. This is because the counterparty 
for the derivative encountered significant financial difficulties, which resulted in a significant increase to 
the discount rate due to increased counterparty credit risk, which is not based on observable inputs. 

  
FRS13p 
93(e)(f) 

Of the total losses (2016: gains) recognised in profit or loss in these periods, all amounts are attributable to 
the change in unrealised losses (2016: gains) relating to those assets or liabilities held at the end of the 
reporting period. 

  
 For trading derivatives at fair value through the profit or loss HK$20,000 and (2016: HK$124,000) was 

included in ‘Finance costs’ (2016: same) in the interim condensed consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
  
 Unrealised losses of HK$10,000 relating to the contingent consideration are recognised within 

‘Administrative expenses’ in the interim condensed consolidated statement of profit or loss. There were no 
such losses arising in 2016. 
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 5    Financial risk management and financial instruments (Continued) 

 
 
FRS13p93(c),(d), 
(e)(iv), (h) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
FRS13p95 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FRS13p93(g) 

Trading derivatives at fair value through profit or loss 
 
The discount rate used to compute the fair value is 15%. If the change in the credit default rate for that derivative 
shifted +/- 5%, the impact on profit or loss would be HK$20,000. The higher the discount rate, the lower the fair 
value. 
 
The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as of the date of the 
event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer. 
 
Contingent consideration in a business combination 

Details regarding the valuation and sensitivity of the contingent consideration are disclosed in Note 9.  
 
The Group had no contingent consideration financial liabilities at either 1 January 2016 or 31 December 2016 and 
there were no transactions in contingent consideration during the year ended 31 December 2016. Therefore 
comparative information is not applicable.  
 
5.6 Group’s valuation processes 
 
The Group’s finance department includes a team that performs the valuations of financial assets required for 
financial reporting purposes, including Level 3 fair values. This team reports directly to the chief financial officer 
(CFO) and the audit committee (AC). Discussions of valuation processes and results are held between the CFO, AC 
and the valuation team at least once every quarter, in line with the Group’s quarterly reporting dates. 

 
FRS13p 93(h), 
IE 65 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
FRS13p93(d) 

The main Level 3 input used by the Group for trading derivatives pertains to the discount rate for forward foreign 
exchange contracts where the counterparty is experiencing financial difficulty. It is estimated based on the weighted 
average cost of capital of public companies that are, in the opinion of the Group, in a comparable financial position 
with the counterparty to the forward contract. The Group has subscriptions to information brokers that allow the 
Group to gather such information. 
 
The main Level 3 inputs used by the Group in estimating the contingent consideration payment, which is based on 
operating profit, are sales, gross margin and the level of distribution and administration expenses. The Group 
prepares detailed forecasts on the acquisition of a business and updates these on a quarterly basis as part of its 
normal operating processes. These forecasts use external market forecasts, management’s evaluation of the costs and 
expected margins, based on past experience, and are subject to detailed review at entity, segment and Group level.  
 

The key unobservable assumptions used in the valuation are: 
 
Assumption Range 
Sales (HK$’000) 6,000 – 10,000 
Gross margin (%) 40% - 50% 
Distribution costs and Administrative expenses 
(HK$’000) 

1,000 – 2,250 

 
Changes in Level 2 and 3 fair values are analysed at each reporting date during the quarterly valuation discussions 
between the CFO, AC and the valuation team. As part of this discussion, the team presents a report that explains the 
reasons for the fair value movements. 
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 5 Financial risk management and financial instruments (Continued) 
  
FRS7p25 5.7  Fair value of financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised cost 

 
The fair value of borrowings are as follows: 

 
 

30 June 2017 
 

31 December 2016 
 

 
HK$’000 

 
HK$’000 

     
 Non-current 6,180  6,705 
 Current 815 

 
581 

 
 

6,995 
 

7,286 
 
FRS7p29 

 
The fair value of the following financial assets and liabilities approximate their carrying amount: 
 
 Trade and other receivables 
 Other current financial assets 
 Cash and banks 
 Trade and other payables 
 The following assets and liabilities within the held-for-sale disposal group: 

– Cash and banks 
– Other current assets 
– Trade and other payables 
– Borrowings 
– Other current liabilities 

 
 PwC commentary – Financial risk management and financial instruments 
  
 HKAS 34p15/15C require that events or transactions that are significant to an understanding of the 

changes in the entity’s financial position and performance since the end of the last annual reporting 
period should be disclosed. 

  
 HKFRS 7p42A-G requires additional disclosure applying to transfer financial assets. An entity transfers 

a financial asset when it transfers the contractual rights to receive cash flows of the asset to another 
party — for example, on the legal sale of a bond. Alternatively, a transfer takes place when the entity 
retains the contractual rights of the financial asset but assumes a contractual obligation to pay the cash 
flows on to another party, as is often the case when factoring trade receivables. 

  
 Financial instrument disclosures required by HKAS 34p16A(j) are included above. Fair value disclosures 

for non-financial assets and liabilities may also be required based on existing HKAS 34 guidance (for 
example, fair value disclosures under HKFRS 3 are required by HKAS 34p16A(i)). See note 14 for 
disclosures in respect of investment properties at fair value.  
 
The Group has concluded that there are no financial assets or liabilities recognised where the 
transaction price was not the best evidence of fair value and so there are no disclosures under HKFRS 
7p28. 

  
 

 6 Seasonality of operations11  

34p16A(b) The retail sales for swimwear and diving equipment are subject to seasonal fluctuations, with peak 
demand in the second and third quarters of the year. This is due to seasonal weather conditions and 
holiday periods. In the financial year ended 31 December 2016, 37% of revenues accumulated in the first 
half of the year, with 63% accumulating in the second half.  

  

                                                                    
11 For an entity whose business is highly seasonal, HKAS 34 encourages (but does not require) the reporting of financial information for the twelve 

months ending on the interim reporting date, with comparatives. [HKAS 34p21]. 
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34p8(e),16A(g)(v) 7 Segment information12 

  
FRS8p22(a) The strategic steering committee is the Group’s chief operating decision-maker. Management has 

determined the operating segments based on the information reviewed by the strategic steering 
committee for the purposes of allocating resources and assessing performance. 

    
 FRS8p22(a)(b) The strategic steering committee considers the business from both a geographic and product 

perspective. From a product perspective, management assesses the performance of swimwear, diving 
products, swimming pool equipment and sunglasses. Swimwear is further evaluated on a geographic 
basis (Hong Kong, UK and other territories). 

  
FRS8p22(a) Although the sunglasses segment does not meet the quantitative thresholds required by HKFRS 8, 

‘Operating segments’, management has concluded that this segment should be reported, as it is closely 
monitored by the strategic steering committee as a potential growth segment and is expected to 
materially contribute to Group revenue in the future. 

    
 FRS8p16 Other products sold by the Group include footwear. These sales have not been included within the 

reportable operating segments, as they are not included within the reports provided to the strategic 
steering committee.  The results of these operations are included in the ‘all other segments’ column. 

    
34p16A(g)(iii) 
FRS8p27(b),  
FRS8p28 

The strategic steering committee assesses the performance of the operating segments based on a 
measure of adjusted earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA). This 
measurement basis excludes the effects of non-recurring expenditure from the operating segments, such 
as restructuring costs, legal expenses and goodwill impairments when the impairment is the result of an 
isolated, non-recurring event.  The measure also excludes the effects of equity-settled share-based 
payments and unrealised gains/losses on financial instruments.  Interest income and expenditure are 
not allocated to segments, as this type of activity is driven by the central treasury function, which 
manages the cash position of the Group. Other information provided, except as noted below, to the 
strategic steering committee is measured in a manner consistent with that in the financial statements. 

    
  Total segment assets exclude deferred tax and available-for-sale financial assets, both of which are 

managed on a central basis. These are part of the reconciliation to total balance sheet assets. 
  
 
FRS8p27(a) 
 
 
 
34p16A(g) 
FRS8p23 

Sales between segments are carried out on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm's length 
transactions. The revenue from external parties reported to the strategic steering committee is 
measured in a manner consistent with that in the interim condensed consolidated statement of profit or 
loss. 
 
The following table presents revenue and profit information regarding the Group’s operating segments 
for the six months ended 30 June 2017 and 2016 respectively. 

 
 
 
  

                                                                    
12 Entities involve in activities of extraction of natural resources which represented 25 per cent or more of the company’s assets, gross revenue or 

operating expenses, please refer to footnote 8 under General Information. 
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 7 Segment information (Continued) 
  
  Six months ended 30 June 2017  Six months ended 30 June 2016 

 
34p16A(g)(i) 
34p16A(g)(ii) 

 

Total 
 segment 
 revenue 

Inter 
 segment 
 revenue 

Revenue 
 from 

 external 
 customers 

 

Total 
 segment 
 revenue 

Inter 
 segment 
 revenue 

Revenue 
 from 

 external 
 customers 

 

 
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 

 
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 

         
    Swimwear HK 10,984 (978) 10,006 

 
13,516 (906) 12,610 

 Swimwear UK 4,731 - 4,731 
 

4,711 - 4,711 
 Swimwear Other 1,183 - 1,183 

 
544 - 544 

 Diving products 8,775 - 8,775 
 

7,449 - 7,449 
 Swimming pool 

equipment 4,655 - 4,655 
 

3,500 - 3,500 
 Sunglasses 2,500 - 2,500 

 
1,500 - 1,500 

 All other segments 250 - 250 
 

510 - 510 
 

         Total continuing 
operations 33,078 (978) 32,100 

 
31,730 (906) 30,824 

 

         Discontinued operations 
(Beach accessories) 4,200 - 4,200 

 
3,100 - 3,100 

 Total 37,278 (978) 36,300 
 

34,830 (906) 33,924 
 

        34p16A(g)(iii) 

 

Six months ended 
30 June 2017 

 

Six months ended 
 30 June 2016 

 

 
Adjusted EBITDA 

 
Adjusted EBITDA 

 

 
HK$’000 

 
HK$’000 

     
     

   Swimwear HK 6,715 
 

7,160 
 Swimwear UK 3,735 

 
3,891 

 Swimwear Other 413 
 

316 
 Diving products 3,824 

 
2,383 

 Swimming pool equipment 3,911 
 

1,771 
 Sunglasses 900 

 
540 

 All other segments 117 
 

111 
 Total continuing operations 19,615 

 
16,172 

 Discontinued operations (Beach accessories) 268 
 

326 
 Total 19,883 

 
16,498 

 

    34p16A(g)(iv) 

 

Six months ended 
 30 June 2017 

 
31 December 2016 

 

 
Total Assets13,14 

 
Total Assets 

 

 
HK$’000 

 
HK$’000 

     
 Swimwear HK 21,601 

 
21,506 

 Swimwear UK 10,030 
 

9,156 
 Swimwear Other 928 

 
1,334 

 Diving products 12,662 
 

10,892 
 Swimming pool equipment 8,030 

 
6,961 

 Sunglasses 4,500 
 

3,900 
 All other segments 763 

 
630 

 Total continuing operations 58,514 
 

54,379 
 Discontinued operations (Beach accessories) 1,400 

 
1,300 

 Total 59,914 
 

55,679 
 
  

                                                                    
13 Entity is required to disclose a measure of segment assets only if that measure is regularly reported to the chief operating decision maker. 

14 The measure of liabilities has not been disclosed for each reportable segment as it is not regularly provided to the chief operating decision maker. 
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 7 Segment information (Continued) 
 

34p16A(g)(vi) 
A reconciliation of total adjusted EBITDA (for continuing operations only) to total profit before income tax and 
discontinued operations is provided as follows: 

  Six months ended 30 June 
   2017  2016 
  HK$’000 HK$’000 
    
 Adjusted EBITDA    
 - for reportable segments 19,498 16,061 
 - for other segments 117 111 
 Total segments for continuing operations 19,615 16,172 
 Corporate overheads (258) (165) 
 Depreciation (8,872) (6,818) 
 Amortisation (294) (182) 
 Impairments (1,300) (1,785) 
 Inventory write-downs (730) − 
 Restructuring costs − (1,200) 
 Legal claims (1,279) − 
    
 Operating profit 6,822 6,022 
 Finance income 1 1 
 Finance costs (869) (739) 
 Share of post tax profits of associates 145 55 
    
 Profit before income tax and discontinued operations 6,099 5,339 
    
DV 
 

Reportable segments’ assets are reconciled to total 
assets as follows: 

 30 June 2017  31 December 2016 

  HK$’000 HK$’000 
 Total segment assets 59,914 55,679 
 Deferred income tax assets 85 77 
 Available-for-sale financial assets 3,901 3,999 
    
 Total assets per balance sheet 63,900 59,755 
    
34p16A(g)(iv) There has been no material change in total liabilities from the amount disclosed in the last annual financial 

statements. 
 

 PwC commentary – HKFRS 8 and discontinued operations 
HKFRS 8 does not provide guidance as to whether segment disclosures apply to discontinued operations. The 
Group can choose not to disclose the results within the segment disclosures. This decision was based on the 
fact that the CODM did not separately review the results of the discontinued operation since its decision to 
dispose of the division. The discontinued operation could be presented within the segment note if it meets the 
quantitative threshold for disclosure and if the CODM reviews the results of the division.   
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 8  Discontinued operations and disposal groups 
  
34p16A(c),(i)  
,DV 

(a) Discontinued operations 

 On 6 March 2017, the Group announced its intention to sell its beach accessories division, Beach Star 
Company, a 90% owned subsidiary of the Company. The Group initiated an active programme to locate a 
buyer and complete the sale during the first half of the year. The subsidiary was sold on 23 May 2017 for 
cash consideration of HK$3,710,000; its results are presented in this condensed consolidated interim 
financial information as a discontinued operation. 

 Financial information relating to Beach Star Company for the period to the date of disposal is set out 
below. The statement of profit or loss and statement of cash flow distinguish discontinued operations 
from continuing operations.  Comparative figures have been restated. 

 Statement of profit or loss [and cash flow] information 
  
  Six months ended 30 June 
  2017 2016 
  HK$’000 HK$’000 
    
FRS5p33 Revenue 4,200 3,100 
 Expenses (3,852) (2,929) 
 Profit before income tax from discontinued operations 348 171 
12p81(h) Income tax (90) (39) 
 Profit after income tax from discontinues operations 258 132 
    
 Pre-tax loss recognised in the remeasurement of assets 

of disposal group (110) – 
12p81(h) Income tax 10 – 
 Post tax loss recognised on the remeasurement of assets 

of disposal group (100) – 
 Post tax loss on disposal of discontinued operations (98) (47) 
 Profit from discontinued operations 60 85 
    
FRS5p33(d) Profit from discontinued operations attributable to:   
 - Owners of the Company 48 68 
 - Non-controlling interests 12 17 
  60 85 
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 8  Discontinued operations and disposal groups (Continued) 
  
34p16A(c),  
DV 

(b) Disposal group 

 The assets and liabilities related to Ewenshop, a retail outlet in the UK which is part of the swimwear 
segment, have been presented as held for sale following shareholders’ approval of the decision to dispose 
of this operation. The completion date for the transaction is expected to be before September 2017. 
Ewenshop’s assets and liabilities are a disposal group. However, Ewenshop is not a discontinued 
operation at 30 June 2017, as it does not represent a major line of business.  

 Ewenshop’s assets and liabilities were remeasured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less cost 
to sell at the date of held-for-sale classification. The inventory was written down by HK$100,000 to 
HK$630,000 

 The major classes of assets and liabilities of the Ewenshop in the disposal group are as follows: 

 
  

  30 June 2017 
  HK$’000 
FRS5p38 Assets classified as held for sale:  
 –  property, plant and equipment 410 
 –  intangible assets 150 
 –  inventory 630 
 –  other current assets 210 
 Total assets of the disposal group 1,400 
   
 Liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held for sale:  
 –  trade and other payables 346 
 –  borrowings 200 
 –  other current liabilities 74 
 –  provisions 120 
 Total liabilities of the disposal group 740 
   
 Total net assets of the disposal group 660 
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34p16A(i) 9 Business combinations 
  
FRS 3pB64 (a-d), (k) On 1 March 2017, the Group acquired 93.8% of the issued shares in Chanoos Ltd, a company that is a 

manufacturer of swimwears, for consideration of HK$3,800,000. The acquisition is expected to increase the 
Group's market share and reduce cost through economies of scale. None of the goodwill recognised is 
expected to be deductible for income tax purposes. 

  
FRS3pB64(e) The goodwill of HK$360,000 arises from a number of factors including expected synergies through 

combining a highly skilled workforce and obtaining greater production efficiencies through knowledge 
transfer; obtaining economies of scale by cost reductions from purchasing efficiencies, price reductions and 
greater volume rebates from suppliers; and unrecognised assets such as the workforce. 

    
 The following table summarises the consideration paid for Chanoos Ltd, and the amounts of the assets 

acquired and liabilities assumed recognised at the acquisition date. 
  

  1 March 2017 
   HK$’000 
   
 Purchase consideration  
 − Cash paid  3,750 
FRS3pB64(g)(i) − Contingent consideration   50 
FRS3pB64(f) Total purchase consideration  3,800 
   
  
FRS3pB64(i) Recognised amounts of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed 

Provisional fair value 

 Cash and banks 175 
 Property, plant and equipment 2,095 
 Intangibles:  
 - Customer list 85 
 - Customer contracts 165 
 - Brand 215 
 Inventories 1,010 
 Receivables 685 
 Payables (380) 
 Employee benefit liabilities (230) 
 Borrowings (250) 
 Deferred tax assets 120 
 Total identifiable net assets 3,690 
   
 Non-controlling interest (250) 
 Goodwill 360 
  3,800 
   
FRS3pB64(m) Acquisition-related costs (included in administrative expenses in the interim 

condensed consolidated statement of profit or loss  for the period ended 30 June 
2017) 75 

   

 PwC commentary– Fair value of acquired assets 

 HKFRS 3 no longer requires entities to report the book values of the acquired assets and liabilities, only the 
fair values are required. 
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 9 Business combinations (Continued)  
   
  1 March 2017 
  HK$’000 
 Outflow of cash to acquire business, net of cash acquired  
 - cash consideration 3,750 
 - cash and banks in subsidiary acquired (175) 
 Cash outflow on acquisition 3,575 
  
 (a) Contingent consideration 
  
FRS3pB64(f)(iii) 
FRS3pB67(b) 
FRS3pB64(g)(ii), (iii) 
 

The contingent consideration arrangement requires the Group to pay the former owners of Chanoos 
Ltd 5% of the operating profit of Chanoos Ltd, in excess of HK$50,000 for the year ending 31 
December 2017, up to a maximum undiscounted amount of HK$300,000.  

  
 
 
 
 
 
34p16A(j) 
FRS 13p93(h)(i) 
 
 
34p16A(j) 
FRS 13p93(h)(ii) 
 
 

The potential undiscounted amount of all future payments that the Group could be required to make 
under this arrangement is between HK$0 and HK$300,000. The fair value of the contingent 
consideration arrangement of HK$50,000 was estimated by applying the income approach. The fair 
value estimates are based on a discount rate of 8% and assumed probability-adjusted operating profit 
in Chanoos Ltd of HK$1,040,000 to HK$1,180,000. This profit is based on management’s forecast at 
the date of acquisition.  
 
A change in the operating profit by HK$100,000, which is considered a reasonable possible 
alternative, would change the liability by HK$5,000. This would result in an increase or decrease in 
the liability with a similar charge or credit to the interim condensed consolidated statement of profit 
or loss.  

  
FRS3pB67(b) As at 30 June 2017, there was an increase of HK$10,000 recognised in profit or loss for the contingent 

consideration arrangement, as the assumed probability-adjusted profit in Chanoos Ltd was 
recalculated to be in the range of HK$1,220,000 to HK$1,250,000.  

  
 (b) Acquired receivables 
  
FRS3pB64(h) The fair value of trade and other receivables is HK$685,000 and includes trade receivables with a fair 

value of HK$623,000. The gross contractual amount for trade receivables due is HK$705,000, of 
which HK$82,000 is expected to be uncollectible.  

  
 (c) Provisional fair value of acquired identifiable intangible assets 
  
FRS3pB67(a) 
 

The fair value of the acquired identifiable intangible assets (including the brand) of HK$465,000 is 
provisional pending receipt of the final valuations for those assets. Deferred tax of HK$76,000 has 
been provided in relation to these fair value adjustments. 

  
 (d)  Non-controlling interest 
  
FRS3pB64(o) The Group has chosen to recognise the non-controlling interest at its fair value for this acquisition. 

The fair value of the non-controlling interest in Chanoos Ltd, an unlisted company, was estimated by 
applying a market approach and an income approach. The fair value estimates are based on: 

  an assumed discount rate of 11%; 
  an assumed terminal value based on a range of terminal EBITDA multiples between three and five 

times; 
  long-term sustainable growth rate of 2%; and 
  assumed adjustments because of the lack of control or lack of marketability that market 

participants would consider when estimating the fair value of the non-controlling interest in 
Chanoos Ltd. 

  
 PwC commentary– Proportionate of net assets measurement 
 HKFRS 3 allows non-controlling interests which has a present ownership interest that entitles their 

holders to a proportionate share of the net assets in the event of liquidation to be measured at the 
proportion of net assets acquired shared by the non-controlling interests. 

  
 (e) Revenue and profit contribution  
  
FRS3pB64(q)(i),(ii) The acquired business contributed revenues of HK$3,300,000 and net profit of HK$350,000 to the 

Group for the period from 1 March 2017 to 30 June 2017. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 
2017, consolidated revenue and consolidated profit for the half-year ended 30 June 2017 would have 
been HK$5,850,000 and HK$620,000 respectively. 
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34p16A(i) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DV 

10 Investment in associates 

On 15 February 2017, Swimodele Group increased its investment in Soles Ltd from 10% to 30%, which 
resulted in the investment being classified from an available-for-sale investment to an associate.  

The carrying value of the available-for-sale investment was HK$150,000, fair value movements of 
HK$30,000 in relation to the available-for-sale investment were reversed in other reserves as a result of the 
increased stake in Soles Ltd. 

The cash consideration for the increase in the investment was HK$400,000. Transaction costs of HK$5,000 
have been treated as part of the investment in the associate. Notional goodwill of HK$100,000 has been 
identified as a result of this investment. 

  

 
 

Six months ended  
30 June 2017 

  
 

HK$’000 
   
 Beginning of the period 290 

290  Addition15 545 
 Share of post-tax profits of associates 145 

 End of the period 980 

   

 PwC commentary - Valuation method: 

 There are two approaches that may be adopted when an investor increases its stake in an entity and an existing 
investment becomes an associate for the first time. Those two methods are: 

  

  'Cost of each purchase' method. The cost of an associate acquired in stages is measured as the sum of the 
consideration paid for each purchase plus a share of investee’s profits and other equity movements (for 
example, revaluation). Any acquisition-related costs are treated as part of the investment in the associate. 

  

  ‘Fair value as deemed cost’ method (by analogy with HKFRS 3). The cost of an associate acquired in stages 
is measured as the sum of the fair value of the interest previously held plus the fair value of any additional 
consideration transferred as of the date when the investment became an associate. As this method is based 
on the analogy with the revised HKFRS 3 guidance on step acquisitions of subsidiaries, any acquisition-
related costs are expensed in the periods in which the costs are incurred. This is different to acquisition-
related costs on initial recognition under ‘cost of each purchase’ method, as those costs form part of the 
carrying amount of an associate. 

 

   

 The Group’s share of the results in Soles Ltd and its aggregated assets and liabilities are shown below: 

   

 
Six months ended 

30 June 2017 

 HK$’000 

  

Assets 3,500 
3,500 Liabilities 2,000 

Revenues 800 

Share of profit 110 

Percentage held 30% 

  

                                                                    
15 Included within this amount is HK$120,000 of cost, which was in relation to the previously held available-for-sale investment, consideration of 

HK$400,000 and costs of HK$25,000. 
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 11 Operating profit  
34p16A(c)  

(a) An analysis of the amounts presented as operating items in the financial information is given below. 

  Six months ended 30 June 

  2017 2016 

  HK$’000 HK$’000 

 Operating items   

 Fair value gains on investment properties (800) (500) 

FRS3p42 

Gain on disposal of subsidiary with loss of control 

- gain on retained interest 

- gain on disposal of interest 

(30) 

(150) 

–  

– 

 Legal claims (Note 20) 1,279 80 

 Restructuring provision (Note 20)   

 –  provisions provided – 1,200 

34p15B(c) –  provisions reversed (180) – 

FRS3pB67(b),34p16A(i) Remeasurement of contingent consideration (Note 9) 10 – 

FRS3pB64(m), 34p16A(i) Transaction cost in relation to acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 9) 75 – 

FRS7p20(a)(vii) 
Loss of available - for - sale investments reclassified from other 

comprehensive income 87 35 

34p15B(b), FRS7p20(e) Impairment losses of available-for-sale investments  55 20 

A4(1)(a) 

GEM18.50B(1)(a) Loss on disposal of properties 52 376 

 
 

 
(b) During the period, cost of sales includes the following items that are unusual because of their nature, size or 

incidence in the statement of profit or loss.  

  Six months ended 30 June 

  2017 2016 

  HK$’000 HK$’000 

34p15B(b) Impairment charge relating to Swimming pool cash generating unit 2,100 - 

34p15B(b) Impairment charge relating to property, plant and equipment - 1,785 

34p15B(a) Inventory write – downs  730 – 

  

36p130(a), (d)(i) 

 

 

36p130(b), (e) 

 

The impairment charge of HK$2,100,000 for the six months ended 30 June 2017 relates to the impairment 
of the SPCGU, which operates in the Swimming pool equipment segment. The SPCGU produces swimming 
pool accessories. During the period the directors decided to dispose of the SPCGU and solicited offers for the 
business. The SPCGU does not meet the criteria for classification as held for sale at the interim reporting 
date. The group received a number of offers, from independent third parties, in the range of HK$3,500,000 
to HK$4,500,000. 

36p130 (f)(i), (d)(ii) The recoverable amount, being the fair value less costs of disposal, has been estimated by the directors at 
HK$4,000,000. The value was determined by reference to the median of the offers received. As a 
consequence the SPCGU has been impaired by HK$2,090,000. The impairment charge has been recognised 
against plant and machinery (HK$1,310,000), receivables (HK$150,000) and inventory (HK$640,000). 

36p130 (f)(ii) Whilst the offers were conditional, the conditions were considered to be normal contractual conditions. The 
directors consider that the offers received were representative of fair value. This value is considered to be 
within level 3 of the HKFRS 13 fair value hierarchy. 
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 11 Operating profit (Continued) 
  

36p30(f) (iii)  The key assumptions in the fair value measurement are that: 

 (i) The group can satisfy the conditional arrangements within a reasonable period; and 

(ii) The potential acquirer will have sufficient financial resources to complete the transaction. 

 
The inventory write-downs of HK$730,000 mainly relates to swimming pool alarms that do not meet European 
security criteria and HK$100,000 relating to the Ewenshop disposal group (Note 8). 

 

The impairment charge of HK$1,785,000 in the six months ended 30 June 2016 related to machinery that was 
no longer usable because of technological obsolescence. It was considered that the machinery had a nominal 
scrap value and it was written down to zero value. 

PwC commentary - Impairment 
 

The amendment to HKAS 36 ‘Recoverable amount disclosures for non-financial assets’ amended HKAS 36 
para 130 and introduced disclosure requirements regarding the recoverable amount of impaired assets when 
that amount is based on fair value less costs of disposal. Where an entity has an impairment charge in an 
interim period, this disclosure is required in the interim financial information.  

 
 12 Income tax expense 

  

 
Hong Kong and overseas profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2016:16.5%) and at the rates of 
taxation prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates respectively. 16 
 

  Six months ended 30 June 
  2017 2016 
  HK$’000 HK$’000 
 Current income tax   
 –  Hong Kong profits tax 485 70 
 – Overseas taxation 451 280 
 Deferred income tax 535 417 
  1,471 767 
  

34p30(c) 
34pB12 

Income tax expense is recognised based on management’s estimate of the weighted average annual income 
tax rate expected for the full financial year. The estimated average annual tax rate used for the year ending 31 
December 2017 is 35% (the estimated tax rate for the six months ended 30 June 2016 was 33%). This increase 
is mainly due to an increase of 7% in the income tax rate in Planetavia. This increase is applicable from 1 
January 2017. 

 

 13 Dividends 
 

34p16A(f) 
A4(3) 
GEM18.50B(3) 

A dividend of HK$1,206,000 that relates to the period to 31 December 2016 was paid in May 2017 (2016: 
HK$1,911,000). 

34p16A(h) On 20 July 2017, the board of directors has resolved to declare an interim dividend of 5 cents per share (2015: 
5 cents per share), which is payable on 31 October 2017 to shareholders who are on the register at 30 
September 2017. This interim dividend, amounting to HK$765,000 (2015: HK$750,000), has not been 
recognised as a liability in this interim financial information. It will be recognised in shareholders’ equity in 
the year ending 31 December 2017.  

 
 PwC commentary: 

 
 Under the Hong Kong Company Ordinance, an interim dividend can be declared by the board of directors at 

any time before the closure of the financial year, whereas a final dividend is proposed by the board of 
directors and approved by shareholders at its annual general meeting. An interim dividend may be subject to 
further shareholder’s approval if that is required by the Company’s Article. For entities incorporated in other 
jurisdictions, they may subject to different approval procedures according to other local law requirement. 

 
  

                                                                    
16 New Companies Ordinance does not require such disclosure, however such information is useful to the understanding of the users of financial 

statements, it is recommended to be kept. 
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 14 Property, plant and equipment, investment properties and intangible assets  
   
34p16A(c) 
34p15B(d) 
34p15C 

In May 2017, the Group acquired a new machine to test diving equipment at a cost of HK$6,000,000. 

 

 

Property, 
 plant and 

 equipment 

 
Investment 
properties 

Other 
intangible 

 assets Goodwill 
  HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 
      
DV Six months ended 30 June 2017     
      
 Net book value or valuation     
 Opening amount as at 1 January 2017 18,595 4,300 3,140 − 
 Acquisition of subsidiary (Note 9) 2,095 − 465 360 
 Additions 7,212 100 3,285 − 
 Fair value gains − 800 − − 
 Disposals (352) − − − 
 Discontinued operations – sale of beach 

accessories division  (760) 
− 

(325) − 
 Property, plant and equipment and intangible 

assets classified as held for sale – Ewenshop 
(Note 8) (410) 

− 

(150) − 
 Depreciation and amortisation  (8,422) − (293) − 
 Impairment (Note 11) (1,310) − − − 
 Closing amount as at 30 June 2017 16,648 5,200 6,122 360 
      
 Six months ended 30 June 2016     
      
 Net book value or valuation     
DV Opening amount 1 January 2016 18,322 3,700 3,504 − 
 Additions 5,789 100 − − 
 Fair value gains − 400 − − 
 Disposals (436) − − − 
 Depreciation and amortisation  (6,318) − (182) − 
 Impairment (Note 11) (1,785) − − − 
 Closing amount 30 June 2016 15,572 4,200 3,322 − 
 
16p77(a),(b),(e),(f) 
DV 
 

The valuations of the investment properties at 30 June 2017, 30 June 2016 and 31 December 2016 were carried 
out by an independent firm or surveyors, PA Limited, who is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of 
Surveyors.   
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 14 Property, plant and equipment, investment properties and intangible assets (Continued)  

   

 The fair value measurement information for these investment properties in accordance with HKFRS 13 are 
given below. 

 

  
Fair value measurements at 30 June 2017 

 

 
 
DV, FRS13p 93 
(a-b) 

 

 
Quoted prices 

in active 
markets for 

identical  
assets 

(Level 1)  

 
 

Significant 
other observable 

inputs 
(Level 2) 

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs 
(Level 3) 

 

  HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000   
 
 

Recurring fair value measurements 
 

 
 

 

 Investment properties − 4,000 1,200   
       
  

Fair value measurements at 31 December 2016  
 
 
DV, FRS13p 93 
(a-b) 

 

 
Quoted prices 

in active 
markets for 

identical  
assets 

(Level 1)  

 
 

Significant 
other observable 

inputs 
(Level 2) 

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs 
(Level 3) 

  HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 
 
 

Recurring fair value measurements 
 

 
 

 Investment properties − 3,400 900 
 

DV, FRS13p93(c) There were no transfers among Level 1, Level 2 and 3 during the period. 
  
DV, FRS13p 93(d) 
 

Level 2 fair values of completed investment properties have been generally derived using the sales comparison 
approach. Sales prices of comparable properties in close proximity are adjusted for differences in key attributes such 
as property size. The most significant input into this valuation approach is price per square foot.  

DV, FRS13p 93(e) Investment properties under development which have fair value measurement using significant unobservable inputs 
(Level 3).  

     
   Six months ended 30 June 
   2017 2016 
   HK$’000 HK$’000 
     
 Opening balance  900 350 
 Additions  100 100 
DV, FRS13p93(e)(i), 
(f) 

Unrealised gains recognised in profit and loss 
 

200 200 

 Closing balance  1,200 650 
     
DV, FRS13p 93(d) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DV, FRS13p93(h) 
 

Level 3 fair values of investment properties under development have been derived using the adjusted sales 
comparison approach, which basically uses the sales comparison approach to derive the fair value of the 
completed property and then deducted the following items: 

- Estimated construction and other costs to completion that would be incurred by a market participant; and 

- Estimated profit margin that a market participant would require to hold and develop the property to 
completion, based on the state of the property as at 30 June 2017. 

The main Level 3 inputs used by the Group are as follows: 

 Estimated costs to completion and profit margin required 

These are estimated by PA Limited based on market conditions as at 30 June 2017. The estimates are largely 
consistent with the budgets developed internally by the Group based on management’s experience and 
knowledge of market conditions.   The higher the estimated costs or profit margin, the lower the fair values of 
the investment properties. 
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 14 Property, plant and equipment, investment properties and intangible assets (Continued) 
  
  Discount rates 

These are estimated based on the weighted average cost of capital of public companies that are, in the opinion 
of the Group, comparable with the businesses being valued. The Group has subscriptions to information 
brokers that allow the Group to gather such information. The higher the discount rates used, the lower the fair 
values of the investment properties. 

DV, FRS13 p93(d) There were no changes in valuation techniques during the period. 

 PwC commentary – HKFRS 13 disclosures for non-financial assets 

 HKAS 34 para 16A(j) specifically refers to financial instrument disclosures and is silent on disclosures in respect 
of non-financial assets. However in view of the fact that non-financial assets (investment properties) have been 
revalued, it is considered appropriate to include the disclosure requirements of HKFRS 13 for these assets in 
interim reporting. 

 
 
36p133 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Goodwill acquired has not yet been allocated to a cash-generating unit at the end of the period as the accounting for 
business combination is still provisional.  

PwC commentary – Goodwill 

HKFRS 3 allows an initial accounting for a business combination be determined only provisionally by the end 
of the period in which the business combination occurs. This initial accounting should be completed in a period 
not exceeding twelve months from the acquisition date.  

In such circumstances, it might also not be possible to complete the initial allocation of the goodwill recognised 
on the combination before the end of the annual period in which the combination is affected. When this is the 
case, the entity discloses the information of the unallocated goodwill and the reason for why it remains 
unallocated. [HKAS 36 paras. 85 and 133]. 

We consider that it is appropriate to include such information also in the interim periods.  

15 Trade and other receivables 

A4(2)(a) 
GEM18.50B(2)(a) 

The majority of the Group’s sales are on letter of credit or documents against payment.  The remaining amounts 
are with credit terms of 60 days and which are mostly covered by customers’ standby letters of credit or bank 
guarantees.  At 30 June 2017 and 31 December 2016, the ageing analysis17 of the trade receivables based on 
invoice date were as follows: 

  As at 
  30 June 2017  31 December 2016 
  HK$’000 HK$’000 
 Trade receivables   
 [Insert ageing, e.g.   
 0 - 30 days  8,034  8,613 
 31 - 60 days]  207  822 

   8,241  9,435 
 
  

                                                                    
17 A4(2)(4.2), GEM18.50B(2)(Note)  

 The disclosure requirement of the Listing Rule for ageing analysis of trade debtors should include the amounts due by related companies which are 
trading in nature.  Moreover, the ageing analysis should be presented on the basis of the date of the relevant invoice or demand note and categorized 
into time-bands based on analysis used by an issuer’s management to monitor the issuer’s financial position. The basis on which the ageing analysis is 
presented should be disclosed. If the issuer is in industry that does not issue invoice to their customers, the issuer should present the ageing analysis 
based on the payment schedule set out in the sales and purchase contracts. 
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 16 Share capital 
      
 Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid: 
      
 

   

Number of 
shares 

(thousands) 
Share 

capital 
     HK$’000 
      

  Opening balance 1 January 2017 15,000 24,032 
34p16A(e)  Proceeds from shares issued - employee share option scheme 

(Note (a)) 400 600 
  At 30 June 2017 15,400 24,632 
    
    
DV  Opening balance 1 January 2016 14,700 23,917 

  Proceeds from shares issued - employee share option scheme 
(Note (a)) 300 800 

  At 30 June 2016   15,000 24,717 
      
34p16A(e) (a) Employee share option scheme: options exercised during the period to 30 June 2017 resulted in 

400,000 shares being issued (30 June 2016: 300,000 shares), with exercise proceeds of 
HK$600,000 (30 June 2016: HK$800,000). The related weighted average price at the time of 
exercise was HK$2.50 (30 June 2016: HK$2.45) per share. 

  

 16(a) Buy-back of shares 
  

34p16A(e) The Group acquired 100,000 of its own shares through purchases on the Stock Exchange of Hong 
Kong Limited on 1 April 2017. The total amount paid to acquire the shares was HK$195,000 and has 
been deducted from shareholders’ equity.   
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 17  Borrowings  
    
  30 June 2017 31 December 2016 
  HK$’000 HK$’000 
    
DV Non-current 6,430 6,810 
 Current 827 603 

  7,257 7,413 

    
34p16A(c),(e) Movements in borrowings is analysed as follows:  
  HK$’000 
 Six months ended 30 June 2017  
 Opening amount as at 1 January 2017 7,413 
 Acquisition of subsidiary (Note 9) 250 
 Borrowings classified as held for sale (Note 8) (200) 
 Borrowings from discontinued operation  (720) 
34p16A(e) Repayments of borrowings (653) 
 Proceeds from bank overdraft  270 
34p16A(e) Convertible bonds – liability component 897 
 Closing amount as at 30 June 2017 7,257 
   
DV Six months ended 30 June 2016  
 Opening amount 1 January 2016 5,610 
 Proceeds of new borrowings 250 
 Repayments of borrowings (225) 
 Closing amount as at 30 June 2016 5,635 
  
 The Group issued one thousand 5.0% convertible bonds at a total nominal value of HK$1,100,000 on 1 May 

2017. The bonds mature five years from the issue date at their nominal value of HK$1,100,000 or can be 
converted into shares at the holder’s option at the rate of 33 shares per HK$1,000.  The value of the liability 
component (HK$897,000) and the equity conversion component (HK$103,000), net of transaction cost of 
HK$100,000 being allocated proportionally to the liability and equity components, were determined at 
issuance of the bond.  The fair value of the liability component included in long-term borrowings was 
calculated using a market interest rate for an equivalent non-convertible bond.  The liability component is 
subsequently states at amortised cost until extinguished on conversion or maturity of the bond.  The residual 
amount, representing the value of the equity conversion component, is included in shareholders’ equity in 
other reserves, net of deferred tax of HK$26,000. 

  
 The Group has the following undrawn borrowing facilities: 
  
  30 June 2017 31 December 2016 
  HK$’000 HK$’000 
 Floating rate:   
 – expiring within one year (bank overdraft and bill facility) 7,400 7,400 
 – expiring beyond one year (bank loans) 9,000 9,000 

  16,400 16,400 

    
 These facilities have been arranged to help finance ongoing investment in new stores. 
  
34p6, 15 Although global market conditions have affected market confidence and consumer spending patterns, the 

Group remains well placed to grow revenues through ongoing product innovation and the recent acquisition 
of Chanoos Ltd. The Group does not have any exposure to sub-prime lending or collateralised debt 
obligations. The Group has sufficient headroom to enable it to conform to covenants on its existing 
borrowings. The Group has sufficient working capital and undrawn financing facilities to service its operating 
activities and ongoing investment in new stores. 
 

DV 18 Deferred income tax liabilities 

 
 Six months ended 30 June 
 2017  2016 
 HK$’000 HK$’000 

   
Opening balance at 1 January  323 238 
Disposal of subsidiary (223) – 
Charged to profit or loss 509 142 
Closing balance at 30 June 609 380 

  



Illustrative condensed consolidated interim financial information  
Swimodele Group – 30 June 2017 
 

34 

 19  Retirement benefit obligations 
  
34p16A(c) On 21 February 2017, a change in legislation in Planetavia resulted in the Group being required to settle a 

significant proportion of its defined benefit pensions obligations in that country. The cost of settling the 
obligation exceeded the amount recognised as a defined benefit obligation.  The settlement resulted in an 
additional expense of HK$265,000. 

DV The amounts recognised within administrative expenses in the interim condensed consolidated statement of 
profit or loss were as follows: 

  Six months ended 30 June 
  2017 2016 
  HK$’000 HK$’000 
    
 Current service costs 631 508 
 Interest costs 64 53 
 Losses on settlement 265 – 

  960 561 

  
DV The amounts recognised in the interim condensed consolidated balance sheet were as follows: 

  30 June 2017 31 December 2016 
  HK$’000 HK$’000 
    
 Present value of funded obligations 6,155 6,999 
 Fair value of plan assets (5,991) (6,853) 
 Present value of unfunded obligations 2,218 2,742 

 Liability in the balance sheet 2,382 2,888 
 

 

The changes in the present value of funded obligations and fair value of plan assets were mainly due to the 
acquisition of Chanoos Ltd (Note 9) and the settlement of plans in Planetavia. The Planetavia settlement 
resulted in a decrease of HK$1,842,000 in the present value of funded obligations and a decrease of 
HK$2,089,000 in the fair value of plan assets. 

  

 20 Provisions 
  
 

 
Legal 

claims Restructuring Others Total 
  HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 
 Six months ended 30 June 2017     
34p16A(c) Opening amount at 1 January 2017 285 1,200 430 1,915 
 Additional provisions 1,279 – – 1,279 
34p15B(c) Unused amount reversed – (180) (330) (510) 
 Utilised during the period – (1,020) – (1,020) 
 Closing amount at 30 June 2017 1,564 – 100 1,664 
      
 Six months ended 30 June 2016     
DV Opening amount at 1 January 2016 60 – 210 270 
 Additional provisions 80 1,200 90 1,370 
  Unused amount reversed (10) – (80) (90) 
 Closing amount at 30 June 2016 130 1,200 220 1,550 
      
34p16A(d),(i) 
34p15B(c) 

A provision of HK$1,200,000 was recognised in respect of the restructuring of the swimwear segment as at 
30 June 2016. This restructuring was completed in April 2017, at which point HK$180,000 of the 
restructuring provision was reversed as unutilised.  

34p15B(f) The legal claims provision of HK$285,000 as of 1 January 2017 relates to certain legal claims brought against 
the Group by customers. The balance as at 30 June 2017 is expected to be utilised in September 2017.  A new 
legal claim arose in May 2016 against the Group, asserting that some of the Group’s swimming pool alarms do 
not meet the European security criteria. A provision of HK$1,279,000 was consequently recognised in profit 
or loss within administrative expenses. The provision is not expected to be utilised in less than one year. In 
the directors’ opinion, after taking appropriate legal advice, the outcome of these legal claims will not give rise 
to any significant loss beyond the amounts provided for at 30 June 2017. 

34p16A(c) Other provisions include provisions for onerous contracts, for lease commitments relating to abandoned 
premises, and for environmental issues. 
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 21 Trade and other payables 

  

A4(2)(b) 
GEM18.50B(2)(b) 

At 30 June 2017, the ageing analysis18 of the trade payables (including amounts due to related parties of 
trading in nature) based on invoice date were as follows: 

  

  30 June 2017 31 December 2016 

  HK$’000 HK$’000 
 Trade payables   
 [Insert ageing, e.g.   
 0 - 30 days 1,508 1,349 
 31 - 60 days 3,350 4,200 
 61 - 90 days] 600 400 
  5,458 5,949 
 
 22 Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without change of control 
  
34p16A(i) (a) Acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary 
  
 On 21 April 2017, the Company acquired an additional 5% of the issued shares of Swimodele 

Manufacturing Limited for a purchase consideration of HK$683,000.  The carrying amount of the non-
controlling interests in Swimodele Manufacturing Limited on the date of acquisition was HK$710,000.  
The Group recognised a decrease in non-controlling interests of HK$473,000 and a decrease in equity 
attributable to owners of the Company of HK$210,000.  The effect of changes in the ownership interest of 
Swimodele Manufacturing Limited on the equity attributable to owners of the Company during the period 
is summarised as follows: 

   
  Six months ended 30 June 
  2017 2016 
  HK$’000 HK$’000 
    
 Carrying amount of non-controlling interests acquired 473 - 
 Consideration paid to non-controlling interests (683) - 
 Excess of consideration paid recognised within equity (210) - 
    
 (b) Disposal of interest in a subsidiary without loss of control 
  
 On 5 May 2017, the Company disposed of 10% of interest in Swimodele Trading Limited at a 

consideration of HK$310,000.  The carrying amount of the non-controlling interests in Swimodele 
Trading Limited on the date of disposal was HK$260,000.  The Group recognised an increase in non-
controlling interests of HK$130,000 and an increase in equity attributable to owners of the Company of 
HK$180,000.  The effect of changes in the ownership interest of Swimodele Trading Limited on the 
equity attributable to owners of the Company during the period is summarised as follows: 

  Six months ended 30 June 
  2017 2016 
  HK$’000 HK$’000 
    
 Carrying amount of non-controlling interests disposed of (130) - 
 Consideration received from non-controlling interests 310 - 
 Gain on disposal recognised within equity 180 - 
  
 There were no changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without change of control in six months 

ended 30 June 2016. 

  

                                                                    
18 A4(2)(4.2), GEM18.50B(2)(Note)  

 The disclosure requirement of the Listing Rule for ageing analysis of trade payable should include the amounts due to related companies which are 
trading in nature. Moreover, the ageing analysis should be presented on the basis of the date of the relevant invoice or demand note and categorized 
into time-bands based on analysis used by an issuer’s management to monitor the issuer’s financial position. The basis on which the ageing analysis is 
presented should be disclosed. 
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 22 Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without change of control (Continued) 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 

FRS12p18 (c) Effects of changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without change of control on the equity 
attributable to owners of the Company for the period ended 30 June 2013   

  Six months ended 
        30 June 2017 
  HK$’000 
 Total comprehensive income for the period attributable to owners  
        of the Company 3,947 
 Changes in equity attributable to owners of the Company arising from: 
 - Acquisition of additional interests in subsidiary (210) 
 - Disposal of interests in a subsidiary without loss of control  180 
 Net effect for changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without change  

of control on equity attributable to owners of the Company   (30) 
    3,917 

 23 Contingent liabilities 
  
34p15B(m) 
A32(12) 
GEM18.41(12) 

Since 2014, the Group has been defending an action brought by an environment agency in Europe. The Group 
has disclaimed liability. No provision in relation to this claim has been recognised in this condensed interim 
financial information, as legal advice indicates that it is not probable that a significant liability will arise. 
Further claims for which provisions have been made are reflected in Note 20. 

 
34p15 

 
24 Related-party transactions 

34p15B(j) 
34p15C 

Swimodele’s parent company is China Swimodele Company (“CSC”), a state-owned enterprise established in 
the PRC and is controlled by the PRC Government.   

 In addition to the related party information and transactions disclosed elsewhere in the condensed 
consolidated interim financial information, the following is a summary of significant related party transactions 
entered into the ordinary course of business between the Group and its related parties. 

  During the six months to 30 June 2016, the Group’s significant transactions with other government-related 
entities include approximately 40% of its purchases of raw materials, used in the manufacture of swimming 
pool and diving equipment. 

  During the six months ended 30 June 2017, sales of HK$972,000 (six months ended 30 June 2016: 
HK$1,020,000) were made to Swimwear United, a company in which Mr Paddy, a director of Swimodele, is 
also a director. At 30 June 2017, an amount of HK$224,000 (31 December 2016: HK$182,000) was due 
from Swimwear United in respect of those sales. 

  A loan to Mrs Birmingham, a key management executive of Swimodele has been advanced in May 2017. 
The loan’s term and conditions are as follows: 

 

Name Amount of loan Term 

Amount 
reimbursed as at 

30 June 2017 Interest rate 
  HK$’000  HK$’000  
 

Mrs Birmingham 70 
Repayable monthly  

over 2 years 6 6.3% 
  
 
 

A termination benefit of HK$600,000 was granted to Mr Ewen, the director of Ewenshop. Ewenshop is now 
classified as a disposal group. See Note 8. 

  
 Key management compensation amounted to HK$2,916,000 for the six month ended 30 June 2017 (30 June 

2016: HK$2,200,000). See below. 
  Six months ended 30 June 

  2017 2016 
  HK$’000 HK$’000 
    
DV Salaries and other short-term benefits 1,998 1,985 
 Termination benefits 600 – 
 Settlement of defined benefit plan (Note 19) 12 – 
 Post-employment benefits 123 85 
 Other long-term benefits 33 23 
 Share-based payments 150 107 
  2,916 2,200 
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34p16A(h) 25 Events occurring after the balance sheet date 

  
 (a) Details of the interim dividend proposed are given in Note 13. 

 (b) On 12 June 2017, the Group announced its intention to acquire all of the shares of Supa Boots Ltd for 
HK$2,200,000. The transaction still has to be approved by the Group’s shareholders and by regulatory 
authorities. Approvals are not expected until late 2017 or early 2018.  

 (c) On 15 July 2017 a shop was broken into and a number of goods (swimwear and other diving products) 
with a net book value of HK$320,000 were stolen. The Group has submitted an insurance claim for the 
replacement of these items. The Group expects to be only partially reimbursed for the incurred loss.  

 (d) On 2 August 2017, there was severe flooding in one of the Group’s major Eastern European swimwear 
manufacturing factories. Refurbishment costs are expected to exceed the insurance claim pay out by 
HK$900,000.  
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PwC Commentary – Notes to the condensed consolidated interim financial information 
This illustrative condensed consolidated interim financial information is a guide to HKAS 34 and should be 
used in conjunction with the supporting commentary on interim reporting requirements set out below. 
 
Commentary − notes to the condensed consolidated interim financial information 
34p15 

1. Significant events and transactions 
  
 An entity should include in its interim financial reports an explanation of events and transactions that 

are significant to an understanding of the changes in financial position and performance of the entity 
since the end of the last annual reporting period. 

  

34p15B 
 

Examples of events or transactions that may require specific disclosures are: 
(a)  a write-down of inventories to net realisable value and the reversal of such a write-down; 
(b)  recognition of a loss from the impairment of financial assets, property, plant and equipment, 

intangible assets or other assets, and the reversal of such an impairment loss; 
(c)  the reversal of any provisions for the costs of restructuring; 
(d)  acquisitions and disposals of items of property, plant and equipment; 
(e)  commitments for the purchase of property, plant, and equipment; 
(f)  litigation settlements; 
(g)  corrections of prior-period errors; 
(h)  changes in the business or economic circumstances that affect the fair value of the entity’s financial 

assets and financial liabilities, whether those assets or liabilities are recognised at fair value or 
amortised cost; 

(i)  any loan default or breach of a loan agreement that has not been remedied on or before the end of 
the reporting period; 

(j)  related-party transactions; 
(k)  transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy used in measuring the fair value of financial 

instruments; 
(l)  changes in the classification of financial assets as a result of a change in the purpose or use of those 

assets; and 
(m) changes in contingent liabilities or contingent assets. 

 Please note that the list is not exhaustive. 
  
34p15C The information disclosed in relation to these events and transactions shall update the relevant 

information presented in the most recent annual financial statements and that are required under other 
accounting standards (e.g. HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures).  

  
 Similarly, if the entity has recognised an impairment loss during the interim reporting period, it should 

consider which of the disclosures made in the annual report would need to be updated in the interim 
report, to give users sufficient context and information about the uncertainties associated with the 
impairment calculations. 

  
 Another example of disclosures that may require updating in the interim report would be the new 

offsetting disclosures that are now required under HKFRS 7. The disclosures provided in the annual 
report (see Note 3.4) should be updated if there have been any changes to the offsetting arrangements in 
the interim period. Entities should remember that the disclosures also cover master netting and similar 
arrangements that are not currently enforceable, see the commentary to Note 3.4 in our Illustrative 
HKFRS consolidated financial statements December 2016 publication for further information. 

  

34p16A 2. Other disclosures 
  

In addition to disclosing significant events and transactions as explained above, management should 
include the information set out in paragraph 16A of HKAS 34 in the notes in the interim financial report, 
unless the information is not material or disclosed elsewhere in the interim financial report. The 
information should normally be reported on a financial year to date basis. Where the information is 
disclosed elsewhere, the entity must provide a cross reference from the interim financial statements to 
the location of that information and make the information available to users on the same terms and at 
the same time as the interim financial statements. 
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34p16A(j), 15C  Accounting policies 
  

The interim financial report should include a statement that the same accounting policies and methods 
of computation are followed in the interim financial report as compared with the most recent annual 
financial statements or, if those policies or methods have been changed, a description of the nature and 
effect of the change. 
 

 While there is no longer a requirement to prominently display an explicit statement that the interim 
financial report is to be read in conjunction with the most recent annual financial report, we recommend 
retaining it as it is a useful explanation and reminder of the nature of an interim report. Entities may also 
want to place this statement on the front cover of the interim financial report as illustrated on the 
example contents page, to make this clear to readers of the interim financial report. 
 

 Where an entity prepares its first interim financial report and there is no previous annual report, we 
believe that a complete disclosure of significant accounting policies should be provided. 

  
34p16A(a) While not explicitly required under HKAS 34, entities should also consider explaining the impact of the 

future adoption of an accounting standard that has been issued but does not yet need to be applied by 
the entity. This would be the case in particular where adoption of the standard will have a significant 
impact on the amounts recognised in the financial statements and this has not been disclosed in the 
previous annual financial report, or where the entity’s assessment has significantly changed. HKFRS 9 
‘Financial Instruments’, HKFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ and HKFRS 16 ‘Leases’ are 
examples of standards that may require disclosure, depending on the circumstances of the entity.  

 
 3. Fair value measurement 
  
34p16A(j)  
FRS13p91-93(h), 94-
96,98,99  
FRS7p25,26, 28-30 

Entities must also provide detailed information about the fair value measurements of their financial 
instruments, regardless of whether there have been significant changes or transactions during the 
interim period. This includes information about: 
(a) the recognised fair value measurements at the end of the interim period  
(b) for financial assets and financial liabilities that are not measured at fair value – the fair value such 

that it can be compared with the carrying amount  
(c) for non-recurring fair value measurements, the reason for the measurement  
(d) the level of the fair value hierarchy within which the measurements are categorised  
(e) the amount of transfers between level 1 and level 2 of the hierarchy, the reasons for those transfers 

and the entity’s policy for determining when transfers have occurred  
(f) for level 2 and level 3 measurements a description of the valuation techniques and inputs used, 

changes in the valuation techniques used and reasons for changes. For level 3 measurements also 
quantitative information about significant unobservable inputs used.  

(g) for level 3 measurements a reconciliation from opening to closing balances, showing separately a 
number of specifically identified items  

(h) for recurring level 3 measurements, the amount of unrealised gains or losses for the period that is 
attributable assets and liabilities held at the end of the reporting period  

(i) for level 3 measurements, a description of the valuation processes used by the entity 
(j) for recurring level 3 measurements, a narrative description of the sensitivity of the fair value to 

changes in unobservable inputs and the effect of changes to unobservable inputs if such changes 
have a significant effect on the fair value  

(k) the existence of inseparable third-party credit enhancements.  
Note that HKAS 34 only requires this information for financial instruments, not for non-financial assets 
and liabilities. However, where an entity has revalued non-financial assets or liabilities to fair value 
during the interim reporting period, or measured non-financial assets or liabilities at fair value for the 
first time, it should consider providing similar disclosures if the amounts involved are material. For 
further commentary around the fair value disclosures required under HKFRS 13 see commentary 24-29 
to note 3 in our Illustrative HKFRS consolidated financial statements December 2016 publication. 

  

34p16A(g) 4. Segment information 
 

 
Under HKAS 34, segment information must be included in interim reports for the year to date, but the 
standard does not specifically require the disclosure of segment information for additional periods for 
which a statement of profit or loss is presented in an interim report. We believe such disclosure would be 
helpful to the users of the interim report and it is likely to be consistent with the management 
commentary. Management should, therefore, consider providing segmental information for each period 
for which the statement of profit or loss is presented, including comparative figures. 

 
 

  



Illustrative condensed consolidated interim financial information  
Swimodele Group – 30 June 2017 
 

40 

 

34p16A(i) 5. Changes in the composition of the entity 
 

 

HKAS 34 requires interim financial reports to disclose the effect of changes in the composition of the 
entity during the interim period, including business combinations, obtaining or losing control of 
subsidiaries and long-term investments, restructurings and discontinued operations. In the case of 
business combinations, the entity should disclose the information required to be disclosed under 
paragraphs 59-62 and B64-B67 of HKFRS 3, ‘Business combinations’. If the goodwill relating to the 
acquisition is material, the disclosure should also include a reconciliation of goodwill as per paragraph 
B67(d) of HKFRS 3. 
 

  

 6. Comparative information for narrative disclosures  

  
34p16A(j)  HKAS 34 does not comment on whether narrative information that was disclosed in the interim financial 

report for the comparative period should be repeated in the current interim financial report. However, as 
per paragraph 6 of HKAS 34, the interim financial report is intended to provide an update on the last 
complete set of annual financial statements. It should therefore focus on new activities, events and 
circumstances; it does not need to duplicate information previously reported. On this basis, we do not 
believe it is necessary to repeat business combination disclosures that were also included in the latest 
annual financial statements. However, we have chosen to retain the comparative disclosures for the 
discontinued operation, as this disclosure explains amounts separately presented in the statement of 
profit or loss for the comparative period. These amounts might not be the same as the amounts reported 
in relation to the discontinued operation in the latest annual financial statements.   

  
 7. Comparative information for roll-forward information 
  
34p16A(g)  There is also a question as to whether comparative information is required for roll-forward information 

such as the table showing movements in property, plant and equipment or in relation to the financial 
instrument disclosures. For the same reasons as set out in the previous paragraph, we do not believe that 
comparative roll-forward information is required under HKAS 34. However, it may be necessary in 
certain circumstances to provide context for a particular transaction or event that is significant to an 
understanding of the changes in the entity’s financial position and performance. 

  
  
 8. Issuances, repurchases and repayments of debt and equity securities 
  
34p16A(e) The interim financial report should disclose details of issuances, repurchases and repayments of debt and 

equity securities. Repurchases and repayments of equity securities are not illustrated in the disclosures 
in this illustrative interim report because there were no such transactions during the half-year under 
review. 

  
 9. Seasonal or cyclical interim operations 
  
34p16A(b),p21  Where the interim operations are seasonal or cyclical, the interim financial report should include 

explanatory comments about the seasonality or cyclicality of those operations. Where operations are 
highly seasonal, HKAS 34 suggests the inclusion of financial information for the 12 months up to the end 
of the interim reporting period; comparative information for the prior 12-month period may be useful. 
Entities whose business is highly seasonal are encouraged to consider reporting such information in 
addition to the information required by the standard. 

  
 10. Unusual items 
  
34p16A(c) Disclosure is required of the nature and amount of items affecting assets, liabilities, equity, profit or loss, 

or cash flows that are unusual because of their nature, size, or incidence. 
 
Disclosure of the income tax applicable to unusual items is not required by HKAS 34, but we recommend 
its disclosure in interim report in the absence of detailed income tax note disclosures. 
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12. Events occurring after the reporting period 
   

34p16A(h)  The interim financial report should disclose material events subsequent to the end of the interim period 
that have not been reflected in the interim financial statements. Such disclosure normally includes an 
indication of the financial effect of each event, where possible. 

  

 13. Materiality 
  
1p7 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
34p23 

Materiality is defined in HKAS 1p7 as follows: 
 
“Omissions or misstatements of items are material if they could, individually or collectively, influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. Materiality depends on the size 
and nature of the omission or misstatement, judged in the surrounding circumstances. The size or nature 
of the item, or a combination of both, could be the determining factor.” 
 
HKAS 34p23 requires that, in deciding how to recognise, measure, classify or disclose an item for interim 
financial reporting purposes, materiality should be assessed in relation to the interim period financial 
data. In making assessments of materiality, interim measurements may rely on estimates to a greater 
extent than measurements of annual financial data. 

  
 While materiality judgements are always subjective, the overriding concern is to ensure that an interim 

financial report includes all of the information that is relevant to an understanding the financial position 
and performance of the entity during the interim period. Therefore, it is generally inappropriate to base 
quantitative estimates of materiality on projected annual figures. 
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 Appendix I - Alternative presentation of primary statements 

34p8(b), (x), 

34p20(b) 
A40(1), A4(1) 

GEM18.50B(1), 

GEM18.55(8) 

Interim condensed consolidated statement of comprehensive income 

Unaudited 
Six months ended 30 June 

Note 2017 2016 
HK$’000 HK$’000 

Continuing operations 
Revenue 7 36,300 33,924 

Cost of sales 11 (16,506) (16,654) 

Gross profit 19,794 17,270 
Other gains 1,050 750 
Distribution costs (9,509) (8,168) 
Administrative expenses (4,513) (3,830) 

Operating profit 7, 11 6,822 6,022 

Finance income 1 1 
Finance costs (869) (739) 
Share of post tax profits of associates 10 145 55 

Profit before income tax 6,099 5,339 

Income tax expense 12 (1,471) (767) 

Profit for the period from continuing operations 
4,628 4,572 

FRS5p33(a) Discontinued operations 
Profit for the period from discontinued operations 8 60 85 

Profit for the period 4,688 4,657 

Other comprehensive income: 
Item that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit 

or loss 
Remeasurements of post employment benefit obligations

1p82A Share of other comprehensive income of associates 
accounted for under equity method  Remeasurements of post employment benefit 

tionsobligations 19 104 164 

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or 
lossFair value gains on available-for-sale financial assets 
assetsassets, net of tax 

82 70 
1p82A Share of other comprehensive income of associates 

accounted for under equity method Step acquisition of an associate 
- Reversal of investment revaluation reserve (30) - 
- Share of post-acquisition profits 20 - 

Cash flow hedges, net of tax (60) (40) 
Net investment hedge 4 - 
Currency translation differences (11) (24) 

5 6 
Other comprehensive income for the period, net 

of tax
109 (158) 

 

Total comprehensive income for the period 4,797 4,499 

Profit attributable to: 
– Owners of the Company 3,838 3,652 
– Non-controlling interests 850 1,005 

4,688 4,657 

Total comprehensive income attributable 
to: 

– Owners of the Company 3,947 3,494 
– Non-controlling interests 850 1,005 

4,797 4,499 
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Appendix I - Alternative presentation of primary statements (Continued) 
 

   
Unaudited 

Six months ended 30 June 

  Note 2017 2016 
   HK$’000 HK$’000 
     

     

 

Total comprehensive income 
attributable to owners of the 
Company arising from    

     
 Continuing operations  3,887 3,409 

FRS5p33(a) Discontinued operations   60 85 

     3,947 3,494 

     

     
34p11 

 
Earnings per share from 

continuing and discontinued 
operations attributable to 
owners of the Company 

 

Cents per share Cents per share 
     
 Basic earnings per share    

33p66 From continuing operations  24.9 23.6 
33p68 From discontinued operations  0.4 0.6 
34p11, 11A   25.3 24.2 
     
 Diluted earnings per share    
33p66 From continuing operations  23.8 22.5 
33p68 From discontinued operations  0.3 0.5 
34p11, 11A   24.1 23.0 
     
     
 The notes on pages 10 to 37 form an integral part of this interim consolidated financial information. 
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Appendix II – Sample disclosure for the early adoption of amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-
based payment 
 
(Revised 
requirement) 

Early adoption of amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-based payment 
 
In August 2016, the HKICPA made amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-based payments which 
clarified the effect of vesting conditions on the measurement of cash-settled share-based 
payment transactions, the classification of share-based payment transactions with net 
settlement features and the accounting for a modification of the terms and conditions that 
changes the classification of the transaction from cash-settled to equity-settled. While the 
amendments do not have to be applied until reporting periods commencing on or after 1 
January 2018, Swimodele Group has decided to adopt them early from 1 January 2017. As 
permitted by the transitional provisions, the group has applied the new policy prospectively 
from that date and has recognised the following amendments on 1 January 2017: 
 A reclassification of HK$ XX from other payables to equity in relation to deferred shares 

granted to employees with a net settlement feature, where the employees can elect to 
receive a lower number of shares in exchange for the group settling the employee’s tax 
liability in relation to the share-based payment through cash payment to the tax 
authority. Under the previous accounting policy, the expected amount payable by the 
group was accounted for as a cash-settled share-based payment transaction and 
recognised liability. From 1 January 2017, the entire share-based payment transaction is 
accounted for as an equity-settled share-based payment transaction. 

 An increase of the liability for share-appreciation rights by HK$ XX as a consequence of 
excluding non-market vesting conditions from the measurement of the rights and 
adjusting the liability based on the number of rights ultimately expected to vest. Under 
the previous accounting policy, the fair value of the share-appreciation rights was 
measured taking into account both market and non-market conditions. 

 An increase in deferred tax assets of HK$ XX. 
 A decrease of retain earnings of HK$ XX. 
 
The share-based payment expense for the 6 months to 30 June 2017 was HK$ XX lower than 
under the previous policy and deferred tax expense has increased by HK$ XX. 
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Appendix III – Forthcoming requirements 

 
Standards Key requirements Early adoption and 

transition provision, if any 

(I) Changes effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018  

HKFRS15 “Revenue 

from Contracts with 

Customers” 

 

 

HKFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining 

when to recognise revenue and how much revenue to recognise 
through a 5-step approach : (1) Identify the contract(s) with 

customer; (2) Identify separate performance obligations in a 

contract (3) Determine the transaction price (4) Allocate 

transaction price to performance obligations and (5) recognise 

revenue when performance obligation is satisfied. The core 

principle is that a company should recognise revenue to depict the 

transfer of promised goods or services to the customer in an 

amount that reflects the consideration to which the company 
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. It 

moves away from a revenue recognition model based on an 

‘earnings processes to an ‘asset-liability’ approach based on 

transfer of control.  

 

HKFRS 15 provides specific guidance on capitalisation of contract 

cost and licence arrangements. It also includes a cohesive set of 

disclosure requirements about the nature, amount, timing and 

uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from the entity’s 

contracts with customers. 

 

HKFRS 15 replaces the previous revenue standards: HKAS 18 

Revenue and HKAS 11 Construction Contracts, and the related 

Interpretations on revenue recognition: 

HK(IFRIC) 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes, HK(IFRIC) 15 

Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate, HK(IFRIC) 18 

Transfers of Assets from Customers and SIC-31 Revenue— Barter 

Transactions Involving Advertising Services. 

 

An entity shall apply HKFRS 15 

for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 

2018. Earlier application is 

permitted.  
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Appendix III – Forthcoming requirements (Continued) 
 

Standards Key requirements Early adoption and 

transition provision, if any 

(I) Changes effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 (continued)  

HKFRS 9  

“Financial Instruments” 

 

 

HKFRS 9 (2014), "Financial instruments" replaces the whole of HKAS 

39.  

 

HKFRS 9 has three financial asset classification categories for 
investments in debt instruments: amortised cost, fair value through 

other comprehensive income (“OCI”) and fair value through profit or 

loss. Classification is driven by the entity’s business model for 

managing the debt instruments and their contractual cash flow 

characteristics.  Investments in equity instruments are always 

measured at fair value. However, management can make an 

irrevocable election to present changes in fair value in OCI, provided 

the instrument is not held for trading.  If the equity instrument is held 
for trading, changes in fair value are presented in profit or loss. For 

financial liabilities there are two classification categories: amortised 

cost and fair value through profit or loss. Where non-derivative 

financial liabilities are designated at fair value through profit or loss, 

the changes in the fair value due to changes in the liability’s own 

credit risk are recognised in OCI, unless such changes in fair value 

would create an accounting mismatch in profit or loss, in which case, 

all fair value movements are recognised in profit or loss. There is no 
subsequent recycling of the amounts in OCI to profit or loss. For 

financial liabilities held for trading (including derivative financial 

liabilities), all changes in fair value are presented in profit or loss. 

 

HKFRS 9 introduces a new model for the recognition of impairment 
losses – the expected credit losses (ECL) model, which constitutes a 

change from the incurred loss model in HKAS 39. HKFRS 9 contains 

a ‘three stage’ approach, which is based on the change in credit 

quality of financial assets since initial recognition. Assets move 

through the three stages as credit quality changes and the stages 

dictate how an entity measures impairment losses and applies the 

effective interest rate method. The new rules mean that on initial 

recognition of a non-credit impaired financial asset carried at 
amortised cost a day-1 loss equal to the 12-month ECL is recognised 

in profit or loss. In the case of accounts receivables this day-1 loss will 

be equal to their lifetime ECL.  Where there is a significant increase in 

credit risk, impairment is measured using lifetime ECL rather than 

12-month ECL. 

 

HKFRS 9 applies to all hedging relationships, with the exception of 

portfolio fair value hedges of interest rate risk. The new guidance 

better aligns hedge accounting with the risk management activities of 

an entity and provides relief from the more “rule-based” approach of 

HKAS39.   

 

HKFRS 9 is effective for 

annual periods beginning on 

or after 1 January 

2018. Earlier application is 

permitted.  

If an entity elects to apply 

HKFRS 9 (2014) early it must 

disclose that fact and apply 

all of the requirements at the 

same time.   

 
 
  



Illustrative condensed consolidated interim financial information  
Swimodele Group – 30 June 2017 
 

47 

Appendix III – Forthcoming requirements (Continued) 
 

Standards Key requirements Early adoption and 

transition provision, if any 

(I) Changes effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 (continued)  

Amendments to HKFRS 
4, Insurance Contracts 

“Applying HKFRS 9 

Financial Instruments 

with HKFRS 4 Insurance 

Contracts 

The amendments provide two optional approaches to deal with the 
mismatched effective dates of HKFRS 9 and the new insurance 
contracts standard to replace HKFRS 4: 
 

(a) The overlay approach: all companies that issue insurance 

contracts have the option to recognise in other comprehensive 

income, rather than profit or loss, the volatility that could arise 

when HKFRS 9 is applied before the new insurance contracts 

standard is issued; and  

(b) The deferral approach: companies whose activities are 

predominantly connected with insurance have an optional 

temporary exemption from applying HKFRS 9 until 2021. Entities 

that defer the application of HKFRS 9 will continue to apply 

HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. 

An entity shall apply the 

amendments for annual 

periods beginning on or after 

1 January 2018. Earlier 

application is permitted. 

Amendment to 

HKFRS 1, ‘First time 

adoption of HKFRS’ 

The amendment is part of the annual improvements to HKFRSs 

2014-2016 cycle. This deletes the short-term exemptions covering 

transition provisions of HKFRS 7, HKAS 19, and HKFRS 10. These 
transition provisions were available to entities for passed reporting 

periods and are therefore no longer applicable. 

An entity shall apply the 

amendment for annual 

periods beginning on or after 

1 January 2018. 

Amendment to HKAS 

28, ‘Investments in 
associates and joint 

ventures’ 

The amendment is part of the annual improvements to HKFRSs 

2014-2016 cycle. HKAS 28 allows venture capital organisations, 
mutual funds, unit trusts and similar entities to elect measuring their 

investments in associates or joint ventures at fair value through profit 

or loss (FVTPL). This election should be made separately for each 

associate or joint venture at initial recognition. 

An entity shall apply the 

amendment for annual 

periods beginning on or after 

1 January 2018. Earlier 

application is permitted. 

HK (IFRIC) 22, 

‘Foreign Currency 

Transactions and 

Advance Consideration’ 

The Interpretations Committee clarified the date of the transaction 

for the purpose of determining the exchange rate to use on initial 

recognition of the related asset, expense or income when an entity has 

received or paid advance consideration in a foreign currency. 

HK (IFRIC) 22 is effective for 

annual reporting periods 

beginning on or after 1 

January 2018. Earlier 

application is permitted. 

(II) Changes effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019  

HKFRS 16 “Leases” 

 

 

HKFRS 16, ‘Leases’ addresses the definition of a lease, recognition 

and measurement of leases and establishes principles for reporting 

useful information to users of financial statements about the leasing 

activities of both lessees and lessors. A key change arising from 

HKFRS 16 is that most operating leases will be accounted for on 

balance sheet for lessees. The standard replaces HKAS 17 ‘Leases', 

and related interpretations.  

 

An entity shall apply HKFRS 16 

for annual periods beginning on 

or after 1 January 2019 and 

earlier application is permitted 

subject to the entity adopting 

HKFRS 15 'Revenue from 
contracts with customers' at the 

same time. 

(III) Changes effective for annual periods on or after a date to be determined 

Amendments to 

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 

28 “Sale or 

contribution of 

assets between an 

investor and its 

associate or joint 

venture” 

 

The amendments address an inconsistency between HKFRS 10 and 

HKAS 28 in the sale and contribution of assets between an investor 

and its associate or joint venture.  

A full gain or loss is recognised when a transaction involves a 

business. A partial gain or loss is recognised when a transaction 

involves assets that do not constitute a business, even if those assets 

are in a subsidiary. 

The amendments were 

originally intended to be 

effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 

January 2016. The effective 

date has now been 

deferred/removed. Early 
application of the amendments 

continues to be permitted.  
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Appendix IV – Early adoption of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 
 
The impact of an early adoption of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 is illustrated in Appendices E and F in the Illustrative IFRS 
consolidated financial statements December 2016 issued by PwC Global Accounting Consulting Services. The 
disclosure reflects the specific circumstances chosen for the fictive company, VALUE IFRS Plc, and will not necessarily 
be the same for all entities. 

 

https://inform.pwc.com/inform2/s/Illustrative_IFRS_consolidated_financial_statements_for_2016_year_ends/informContent/1634220906099945#ic_1634220906099945
https://inform.pwc.com/inform2/s/Illustrative_IFRS_consolidated_financial_statements_for_2016_year_ends/informContent/1634220906099945#ic_1634220906099945
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